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MISSION
The Royal National Agricultural and
Industrial Association of Queensland
(RNA) is committed to celebrating
and championing agriculture and the
essential role it plays in the everyday
lives of Queenslanders.
We do this by showcasing and
rewarding the very best of the best
in agriculture through our Royal
Queensland Show (Ekka) and Royal
Queensland Food and Wine Show
(RQFWS) competitions.

Our education programs and
promotions are also designed to
advocate for agriculture and reflect the
association’s core charter.
The RNA has been committed to
ensuring the community recognises the
vital role agriculture plays in everyday
life since 1875.
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WHO WE ARE
Founded in 1875, the RNA is an independent,
not-for-profit member based organisation that has
freehold title to the iconic Brisbane Showgrounds.
The organisation’s guiding mission is to celebrate

and champion the essential role agriculture plays
in the everyday lives of Queenslanders.
Governed by 21 elected Councillors, the RNA
represents more than 4,100 members across

Queensland and further afield, many whose
families have been involved with the RNA for
generations.

WHAT WE DO
OUR BUSINESS FOCUS
ROYAL QUEENSLAND SHOW
The Royal Queensland Show (Ekka) is Queensland's largest and most loved annual event, attracting on average more than 400,000 people. Run
by the RNA for 10 days in August and staged at its original birthplace, the Brisbane Showgrounds, the Ekka brings the country and city together for
a true celebration of agriculture. The Ekka showcases the best of Queensland, attracting more than 21,000 competition entries from woodchop to
giant vegetables, 10,000 animals from beef cattle to cats and dogs, world-class live entertainment, award-winning food and wine, carnival rides and
showbags, family shopping, educational activities and much more. The iconic show has been running since 1876 and is full of traditions, a unique
atmosphere and childhood memories which have been passed down through generations of families. The RNA is honoured to stage Queensland’s
largest event on behalf of the community each year and is committed to preserving a wonderful legacy for future generations to enjoy.

BRISBANE SHOWGROUNDS
& ROYAL INTERNATIONAL CONVENTION CENTRE
The Brisbane Showgrounds is a venue business which hosts more than 250 events each year including exhibitions, conferences, banquets and music
festivals.
The Royal International Convention Centre (Royal ICC) is a world-class, two-level building featuring three halls with state-of-the-art rigging, seven
adaptable meeting rooms, two boardrooms, an open foyer, 140 car parks and cutting-edge catering facilities. It’s the only convention centre in Australia
where guests can enjoy award-winning food and wine from the prestigious Royal Queensland Food and Wine Show and iconic Royal Queensland
Show.

ROYAL QUEENSLAND FOOD AND WINE SHOW
The Royal Queensland Food and Wine Show (RQFWS) is dedicated to recognising and rewarding outstanding producers and their produce through
its six individual competitions - Cheese and Dairy Produce; Ice Cream, Gelato and Sorbet; Branded Beef; Branded Lamb; Wine and Beer. Since its
launch in 2009, the RQFWS has been committed to supporting and showcasing Australian produce.

PLACEMAKING
The $2.9 billion Brisbane Showgrounds Regeneration Project is one of the largest mixed-use, urban regeneration projects in Australia. The
revitalisation has already generated year round vitality throughout the events and lifestyle precinct, working and playing at the Showgrounds each
day. The project, which started in 2010, also ensures the Royal Queensland Show remains on the site where it first began in 1876.
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PRESIDENT’S
REPORT

“THE 2021 EKKA CANCELLATION
WAS A DEFINING MOMENT
FOR MANY AND DESPITE THE
WIDESPREAD DISAPPOINTMENT,
THE STRENGTH OF THE EKKA
SPIRIT ROSE AND BOUGHT OUR
COMMUNITY TOGETHER.”
COVID-19 has forever changed our world,
presenting our global communities with
unforgettable and historic challenges.
2021 was again dominated by the social and
economic impacts of the pandemic leading to
continued nationwide border closures, snap
lockdowns, and density restrictions.
The RNA has worked closely with the
Queensland Government to stage the many
events which take place at the Showgrounds in
line with all health regulations and restrictions.
Planning for the 2021 Ekka started in
December 2020 with a comprehensive COVID
Safe plan in place.
However, just five days out from the Show
gates opening, a South-East Queensland
lockdown and worsening outbreak resulted in
the Ekka being cancelled.
The RNA was fully supportive of the
Queensland Government’s decision - we will
always act in the best interests of public health.
The cancellation of the show so close to the
opening date was devastating considering the
huge effort the Ekka community had put into
preparing for the show.
The cancellation, for the second year in a row,

PAGE 4 RNA 2021 ANNUAL REPORT

had far reaching effects for our organisation,
our employees, RNA members, competitors,
exhibitors, ride vendors, food operators,
sponsors, media partners and the public.
Thousands of exhibitors had spent months
preparing their entries for competition, many
beef cattle competitors were already on ground
for the start of Beef Week, and vendors and
partners were impacted operationally and
financially.
Despite the widespread disappointment, the
strength of the Ekka spirit rose and bought our
community together.
In a powerful and overwhelming show of
support, Queenslanders rallied behind the RNA
and the show sector, coming together for our
pop-up Ekka Tastes Drive Thru.
Honouring Ekka traditions, and first introduced
in 2020, Ekka Tastes doubled in capacity and
operated over nine days.
Thousands of Queenslanders were welcomed
to the Showgrounds to enjoy the iconic
Strawberry Sundae and much-loved Dagwood
Dog and Bertie Beetle showbags.
This special event was a great demonstration of
the public’s enduring connection with the Royal

Queensland Show and we could not be more
appreciative of the community’s support.
Meanwhile, in the days and weeks following the
cancellation, the RNA navigated the complex
environment to successfully stage a number of
competitions.
In 2021, 25 of the 55 Royal Queensland Show
and Royal Queensland Food & Wine Show
competitions were safely judged and awarded.
This achievement was a testament to our
commitment and perseverance and a
wonderful showcase of our exhibitors’ hard
work and creativity.
I pay tribute to all our judges, stewards, and
volunteers for their unwavering support,
ingenuity, and effort behind the scenes in 2021
to recognise and reward the best of the best.
We were also delighted to be able to safely
host the inaugural Ekka Art Show at our Royal
International Convention Centre.
It was encouraging to welcome more than 500
people, including His Excellency Paul de Jersey
AC CVO, the Governor of Queensland, to the
Showgrounds to celebrate the winners of the
2021 Fine Arts Competitions.
I would like to take this opportunity to recognise

and thank the thousands of exhibitors who
dedicated their time and effort finalising and
presenting their entries last year. We look
forward to welcoming you to the Show in 2022.
Shared purpose and a clear vision bolstered the
RNA team, and the organisation moved past
the cancellation and earlier lockdowns, with
renewed vigour and enthusiasm.
The Brisbane Showgrounds and Royal
International Convention Centre enjoyed strong
venue sales in the last quarter of 2021, hosting
several large outdoor events and securing
significant new business for 2022 and beyond.
As we look ahead, we are motivated by many
significant opportunities including an events-led
post-pandemic recovery.
We were further buoyed by the Federal
Government’s announcement of Supporting
Agricultural Shows and Field Days Program
(Round 2) funding, following a submission in
late 2021.
In early 2022, the Minister for Agriculture, the
Hon. David Littleproud MP announced a $6.5
million grant for the RNA to cover our Ekka
2021 operational and fixed costs which could
not be recouped.

We are most appreciative to the Federal
Government for this funding which provides
much needed certainty for our not-for-profit
sector and is critical to keeping the agricultural
show movement alive.
This grant is essential for our financial recovery
moving forward and, importantly, ensures we
can stage the return of a very historic Ekka in
2022.
On behalf of the RNA Council and RNA
Members, I express my sincere gratitude
to former Governor of Queensland, the
Honourable Paul de Jersey AC CVO and
Mrs Kaye de Jersey, for their unwavering and
enthusiastic support during His Excellency’s
esteemed seven years in office.
Mr and Mrs de Jersey always enjoyed
engaging with exhibitors and the public at the
show and their connection with, and support
of, agricultural and regional communities
throughout Queensland was extraordinary.
We look forward to welcoming Her Excellency
the Honourable Dr Jeannette Young PSM, to
the 2022 Ekka in her official role as Governor of
Queensland and patron of the RNA.
Despite an incredibly testing year, we have
remained true to our mission of celebrating and

championing the essential role agriculture plays
in the lives of Queenslanders.
I would like to acknowledge the leadership
of RNA Chief Executive Brendan Christou in
successfully managing the organisation through
another year of historic change and challenges
and to thank our wonderful RNA staff who
worked so diligently under such difficult
circumstances.
I would also like to thank my fellow Councillors
for their dedication and leadership, and our
exhibitors, judges, stewards and volunteers
for their continuing support, flexibility, and
determination.
The way each and every person has turned
to face the challenges of 2021 has been
tremendous and goes a long way to ensuring
we are ready to stage an incredibly special and
historic comeback Ekka in 2022.
We look forward to seeing you in August.

David Thomas
President
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
REPORT

“THE RNA’S LONG-TERM VISION IS
TO CONTINUE TO BUILD ON OUR
FINANCIAL SUSTAINABILITY AND
DIVERSIFICATION STRATEGIES
OF THE PAST DECADE. IT IS ALSO
FOR THE SHOWGROUNDS TO
PLAY A KEY ROLE IN FUTURE CITY
SHAPING EVENTS.”
In 2021 the global COVID-19 pandemic
continued to be the greatest challenge our
association has ever faced.
The year saw an ever-changing operating
environment challenged by rolling lockdowns;
interstate and international border closures;
the imposition and then lifting of gathering
restrictions and vaccination mandates. All
these factors directly impacted the events
industry, including the RNA.
Our 2021 operating revenue was reduced by
$4.4 million to $18.3 million while our EDBITA
loss result was $5.5 million.
While prudently managing its recovery the
RNA remained focused on its charter to
celebrate and champion agriculture. From
the beginning of 2021 the RNA together with
Queensland Health planned a COVID-Safe
Ekka which was to run in a new nine day
format from 7 August to 15 August 2021.
In the lead up to Ekka 2021 the RNA’s
Workplace Health and Safety and Operations
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teams worked incredibly hard to develop a
comprehensive range of measures which
would ensure the Comeback Ekka complied
with Queensland Government health
regulations and requirements for major
events. The new measures were designed
to reunite the country and the city safely
at Ekka 2021 and included capped daily
numbers; online tickets only; real time crowd
monitoring; roving COVID- Safe Marshalls
and increased hygiene and cleaning.
There was great excitement about the
return of the Show after its history-making
cancellation in 2020. Pre Ekka ticket sales
had been strong, thousands of competition
entries had been received, Sideshow Alley
had been set up and exhibitors were starting
to arrive. Although it was devastating when
the Ekka was cancelled five days out from
the gates opening on 2 August, ensuring
the health and safety of the Ekka community
and the public is paramount and the RNA
was fully supportive of the Queensland
Government’s decision.

It was particularly heartbreaking to have to
cancel so close to the opening day because
of the massive effort the Ekka community
had put into preparing for the 2021 People’s
Show. Even though the Show couldn’t go
on I’m proud we were able to recognise and
reward the entrants of 25 of the Ekka’s 55
competitions.
The outpouring of sympathy following the
2021 Show’s cancellation was overwhelming,
so the RNA moved quickly to bring back the
extremely popular Ekka Tastes Drive Through
and King Street Pop Up established in 2020.
I must make special mention of our loyal Ekka
sponsors who remained steadfast in their
support, despite the last-minute cancellation.
I also pay tribute to the resilient RNA staff –
navigating the 2021 cancellation was even
more challenging than the shutdown period
of 2020.
The RNA’s 2020 strategic focus of keeping
permanent staff employed paid dividends in
2021 as our venue sales team was able to

rebound and deliver events when restrictions
eased. This retention of core competency
set the Brisbane Showgrounds apart from its
competitors because the business was able
to scale up quickly as opportunities arose.
Venue sales staff continued to work closely
with our clients, and they successfully
rescheduled events around restrictions and
lockdowns which resulted in a strong finish
to the year with excellent forward bookings
for 2022.
Despite the ongoing economic and
social disruption COVID has had on our
organisation and our events business, the
RNA remains in a stable financial position
with our cashflow supported through prudent
cost management and restructuring, and the
Federal Government Supporting Agricultural
Shows and Fields Days Program – Round 2
funding for eligible capital city Royal Shows.
The RNA received $6.5 million in funding
from the $13.1 million Federal Government
package to support costs incurred from the

cancelled 2021 Ekka. This funding will enable
us to start planning the 2022 Ekka and it has
helped keep our cashflow stable.
Our operating cashflow may continue to
be impacted due to event volatility but
Australia is entering a post pandemic stage
with international borders now open and
lockdowns not preferred policy.
The RNA’s long-term vision is to continue
to build on our financial sustainability and
diversification strategies of the past decade.
It is also for the Showgrounds to play a key
role in future city shaping events.
The RNA is honoured to be a partner in the
Brisbane 2032 Olympic and Paralympic
Games as the home of Equestrian.
Announced in mid-2021, the Olympics is
being described as a once-in-a-generation
opportunity to redefine all of Queensland
and the Showgrounds are poised for
transformation and great recognition. The
next ten years will be a momentous period for
Brisbane and we look forward to the legacy

opportunities that come with hosting the
Olympics.
Following another year of unexpected and
unparalleled challenges I am grateful for our
team’s achievements, resilience and positivity
in 2021 as they remained committed to the
RNA’s mission and continued to meet and
exceed the needs of our customers and
stakeholders in such trying times.
I also wish to express my gratitude to
President David Thomas and Council for their
ongoing guidance and clear vision, and our
RNA members for their continuing support
and enthusiasm.

Brendan Christou
Chief Executive
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COUNCIL
UPDATES

FORMER COUNCILLOR
Rod Bower

NEW COUNCILLOR
Mary MacMillan

B. App. Sci. (Food Tech) MAIFST
Rod Bower joined the RNA Council in October
2015 and resigned in March 2021. Mr Bower
was a member of the Entertainment, Future
Directions, Horse and Arena, and Joint Stock
Committees. He is a long standing member
of the RNA having previously worked as Ring
Steward and Honorary Council Steward in
the Horse and Arena section for more than 30
years. He served as Chairman of the inaugural
Future Directions Committee and exhibited
and stewarded horse and cattle sections at
Queensland and interstate shows. Mr Bower,
a qualified Food Technologist, is Managing
Director for a family owned food manufacturing
business producing products for national and
export markets.
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Mary MacMillan was appointed to the RNA
Council in May 2021. She is a member of
the RNA’s Horse and Arena Committee
after serving as an Honorary Council
Steward in this section since 2013, and
is also on the Legends Committee. Mrs
MacMillan has a broad range of experience
across varying levels of nearly all equestrian
disciplines having fulfilled competitor,
groom, team manager and coaching roles
for many years. She is well recognised
across equestrian events throughout
Eastern Australia as a Ringmaster, Steward
or Judge. Throughout this time, Mrs
MacMillan has become a successful small
business owner in the high risk heavy
equipment maintenance and repair sector.

RNA

HERITAGE
EDUCATION
AGRICULTURE

FOUNDATION

The RNA Foundation (RNAF) celebrates and
champions the essential role agriculture plays
in the everyday lives of Queenslanders through
raising funds to aid agricultural heritage
preservation, agricultural education and
agricultural awareness and development.
In 2020, the RNA Foundation's Education
Bursary was established in conjunction with
the RNA Future Directions Committee in order
to aid agricultural education. The bursary
supports eligible candidates to attend the
Marcus Oldham Rural Leadership Program,

which provides leadership training to identified
potential future leaders in agricultural and
agribusiness industries and communities.
Announced in January 2021, the recipients
of the inaugural Bursary were Elisha Parker,
Megan Munchen and Warwick Fraser. Due
to COVID-19 the 2021 Bursary winners will
participate in the Leadership Program in 2022.
Meanwhile, $105,770 in donations were made
to the RNAF for the year ending 30 June
2021. Donations of a value of $2 or more are

fully tax-deductible and may be allocated to a
specific charitable pillar (heritage, agriculture
or education), or to the general charitable
funds within the RNAF. The RNA Foundation
was one of the six beneficiaries of the 2021
Morgan’s Big Dry Friday fundraiser event for
rural Australia in October 2021, receiving
$50,000.
The RNAF was created in 2017 and in 2021
was chaired by RNA Councillor Don Chandler
with board members Ari McCamley, Ben
Poschelk, Caitlin McConnel and Ann Ballinger.
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YOUR EKKA
ROYAL QUEENSLAND SHOW

OVERVIEW
The 2021 Ekka was cancelled five days out
from opening day on 2 August 2021 due to
the South East Queensland lockdown and
worsening local COVID-19 outbreak. It was the
second year in a row that the Ekka had been
cancelled due to the worldwide COVID-19
pandemic and the fourth time in the Ekka’s
145-year history.
Despite the disappointment of the cancellation,
the RNA will always act in the best interests of
public health and protect its exhibitors and the
broader community.
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There was a massive outpouring of sympathy
and support from Queenslanders in the wake
of the cancellation, so the RNA brought back
the highly popular Ekka Tastes Drive Through
established in 2020. For the second time in the
RNA’s history the public were able to get their
Ekka fix through a special drive through outlet
at the Brisbane Showgrounds. A second site,
a pop-up Ekka Tastes stall operated on King
Street.

Former Governor of Queensland the
Honourable Paul de Jersey AC CVO and RNA
President David Thomas

EKKA TASTES
The 2021 Ekka Tastes Drive Through was
bigger and better with the addition of the
much-loved Bertie Beetle showbags to the
menu of Strawberry Sundaes and Dagwood
Dogs and more than double the capacity of
the inaugural drive through, taking it from
four lanes to 10 lanes.
The 2021 Ekka Tastes Drive Through
offered Queenslanders the classic Show
treats for nine days from 14 August to 22
August in a COVID-Safe way in the comfort
of their car.
To show his support, the former Governor
of Queensland and RNA Patron, His
Excellency the Honourable Paul De Jersey
AC was the first to use the Drive Through
in Sideshow Alley on 14 August in the
Government House 1972 Rolls Royce
traditionally featured in the official Ekka
opening ceremony. RNA President David
Thomas had first scoop honours!
The 2021 Ekka Tastes Drive Through and
Pop Up experienced huge demand with
tens of thousands of Queenslanders cruising
through for their Show treats. They enjoyed
thousands of Strawberry Sundaes, Dagwood
Dogs and Bertie Beetle showbags over the
nine days – the number of days the 2021
Ekka would have run for if held.
For more than 70 years Ekka Strawberry
Sundaes have been enjoyed by millions of
show guests since the 1950s. On average,
more than 180,000 are consumed at the
show each year.
Proceeds help aid lifesaving medical
research for the Common Good, including
research into coronavirus.
WATCH The Ekka TV episode on the
show’s popular drive thru.

Play Video

EKKA TV
The RNA’s inhouse production team created
a series of episodes to support the Royal
Queensland Show competitions and events
that traditionally occur in the leadup to Ekka
2021 including Giant Pumpkins and the Royal
Queensland Food and Wine Show’s Beer
Awards and Beef, Lamb, Cheese and Dairy
Awards.

WATCH Ekka 2021 Giant Pumpkins

WATCH 2021 RQFWS Beef, Lamb,
Cheese and Dairy Awards

Play Video
Play Video
WATCH 2021 RQFWS Beer Awards

Play Video

WATCH 2021 Thank you Queensland

Play Video
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EKKA 2021 COMPETITIONS
Competitions are the heart of the Show
and have been rewarding and recognising
our exhibitors for their skill, hard work and
dedication since 1876.
Despite the Show’s late cancellation in
2021, 25 of the 55 Royal Queensland Show
and Royal Queensland Food & Wine Show
competitions were safely and successfully
judged, adhering to Queensland Government
Public Health Directions and COVID-Safe
requirements. This meant the highly coveted
champion blue ribbons could still be awarded
to many of the Show’s treasured competitors

who had spent days, weeks and months
preparing their entries.
Competitors were also recognised through the
first ever Ekka Art Show which was held on
Saturday 14 August at the Royal International
Convention Centre. Over 500 people including
the Governor of Queensland, attended the
event which featured the entries of the winners
of the 2021 Fine Arts Competitions presented
by Spotlight. As well as display their work
exhibitors were given the chance to sell their
pieces at the Ekka Art Show which generated
$19,000 in sales.

BEEF
While the 2021 Show couldn’t go on, several
RNA beef competitions were able to proceed
in a COVID-Safe way, thanks to locational
changes and widespread support from the
industry, RNA Councillors, sponsors, and
exhibitors.
PRIME BEEF
129 Prime Beef entries were judged at
Silverdale Saleyards in the Scenic Rim
on Wednesday 4 August 2021. Several
categories were judged including single
classes, pen of three, pen of six, carcass
competitions and more. Congratulations to
Travis Luscombe for winning the Queensland
Country Life Champion Single Steer and
Elders Shield of Excellence as well as the
Woolworths Champion Local Trade Weight
Steer or Heifer for his Limousin entries, and
Tom and Joy Surawski who were awarded
Queensland Country Life Grand Champion
Pen and the Syd Vellnagel Memorial Trophy
sponsored by the Wilson and Bell Families
also for their Limousin entries.
LED STEER
The 2021 Led Steer Woolworths Premier
Carcass Competition was also successfully
staged, with cattle processed at Nolan Meats
Gympie. Judging of 309 carcasses took place
on Friday 6 August. Importantly, the carcass
competition helped exhibitors to promote their
bull sales during the traditional Spring bull sale
season. Congratulations to Hayden Beattie who
took out Woolworths Grand Champion Carcass
and The Ken Crotty OAM Perpetual Trophy.
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PADDOCK TO PALATE
The 2021 Paddock to Palate Competition
presented by JBS Australia was able to
operate as normal as it did not breach any
social distancing requirements.
Attracting 728 head of cattle, the competition
is the most prestigious of its kind in the nation
featuring a prize pool of $54,000. Now in
its 25th year, Australia’s beef supply chain
competition gives beef producers the chance to
prove the commercial relevance of their cattle.
This three-phased competition comprises the
best aggregate weight gain, carcass and MSA
eating quality. Congratulations to Palgrove
Pastoral Company for winning two first-place
awards.
PADDOCK TO PALATE WAGYU CHALLENGE
Like the Paddock to Palate Competition, the
2020-2021 Wagyu Challenge presented by
JBS Australia continued in its usual format,
given it did not breach any social distancing
requirements.
In its sixth year the competition attracted 21
entries and involved four phases comprising

best aggregate weight gain over 370 days,
a carcass competition, carcass value, and
finishing with a beef taste off judged by some
of Queensland’s top chefs. The competition
gives Wagyu producers a stage to showcase
their animals, demonstrate their skills in
breeding, and benchmark their genetics.
Congratulations to Hamblin Pty Ltd who was
the overall winner of the 2020-2021 Paddock
to Palate Wagyu Challenge.

APICULTURE
The apiculture competition presented by
Marsh caused a buzz with more than 214
entries in 2021. Entries included extracted
honey, pollen, comb honey, mead (an
alcoholic beverage made by fermenting
honey with water) and beeswax including
beeswax sculptures. Judging was successfully
conducted on Friday 13 August 2021, with
888 Bees crowned Champion Honey of Show
and Most Successful Exhibitor.

BUSH POETRY
Due to the success of the 2020 Virtual
Bush Poetry Competition, the competition

was held virtually again in 2021. Poets of all
ages submitted recordings of themselves
performing their best original or favourite
established poem showcasing the Australian
way of life. 35 entries across 2 virtual
classes were judged on Wednesday 21 July.
Congratulations to Erin Johns and Bob Pacey
for their first-place result in their classes.

COOKERY
The Arts and Cookery competitions are
show favourites, attracting more than 3,450
entries across eight sections each year. In
2021, 389 cookery entries were judged onsite
prior to lockdown and the last four preserve
classes were safely judged at the Brisbane
Showgrounds during the lockdown. A special
Zoom call was established with the Children’s
Hospital team and their patients to enable
the “live” judging of their rosella jam by Chief
Judge Alison Alexander OAM. All awardwinning entries were displayed at the Ekka
Art Show in mid-August. Congratulations
to Susan Paterson who won the coveted
Florence Morgan Rich Dark Fruit Cake and
Carly Mullins who won Champion Preserve of
Show with her Lime Butter.

QUILTS ACROSS QUEENSLAND
100 stunning quilts were safely judged onsite
during the August lockdown, with first-place
winners displayed at the Ekka Art Show which
was held following the lockdown in the Royal
International Convention Centre on Saturday
14 August. Catherine Schibrowski won Best in
Show with her quilt titled ‘Jester’. A highlight
in the quilting and crafting community, the
quilt competition has been running for 20
years, with both professionals and amateurs
entering.
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CAKE DECORATING
PHOTOGRAPHY

Judges were blown away by
the dazzling array of innovative
cake decorating entries in
2021. All 100 cake decorating
entries were judged onsite
prior to the lockdown and
then displayed at the Ekka
Art Show. Congratulations to
Pauline Herrmann who won the
Grand Champion Cake with
her showstopping Three Tier
Wedding Cake.

Hundreds of professional and amateur
photographers entered 1080 images in the
2021 Ekka Photography Competition. This
hugely popular competition features a range
of classes from monochrome and colour, to
print and digital as well as drone photography.
The entries were judged onsite prior to the
lockdown and were displayed at the Ekka Art
Show. Brennan Finighan won Champion Print
of Show with his entry ‘Touching’ and Rochelle
James won Champion Digital Image with her
entry ‘Many Hands Raise a Baby’.

EDUCATION ON SHOW
The Education on Show competition
showcases work by Queensland students from
Prep to Year 10. The 2021 theme was ‘farming
– looking forward and looking back.’ The
competition classes covered a wide range of
curriculum related skills and activities including
poems, collages, brochures, thank you cards
to farmers and model barns. Judging of all 571
entries took place onsite prior to the lockdown
on Wednesday 28 July and they were displayed
at the Ekka Art Show. Congratulations to
Bullyard State School which was awarded
Champion School of Show in 2021.

LITTLE SPROUTS
For the first time, the Little Sprouts
Competition encouraged Prep to Year 6
students to grow an Ekka-pillar. The grassed
back caterpillars were judged on Saturday
7 August, with Calvary Christian College
awarded Funniest Looking Ekkapillar.

SCHOOL GARDEN

CREATIVE ART & CRAFT
From leatherwork and beading to calligraphy
and knitting, the Ekka’s Creative Art and
Craft Competition is recognised as one of the
most popular arts and craft competitions in
Australia. All 823 craft entries were judged
onsite prior to the lockdown and displayed at
the Ekka Art Show. Congratulations to Allan
Press (in memoriam) who won the Grand
Champion Exhibit with his Black and White
Decoupage Emu Egg.

NATURAL FIBRES MAKE & MODEL
Featuring in the 2021 Spotlight Arts and
Cookery competitions for the first time, the
Natural Fibres Make and Model competition
saw aspiring designers of all ages showcase
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their latest creations using natural fibres, from
cotton, calico and silk to wool and linen. Safely
judged offsite during lockdown, all 41 entries
in this new competition were assessed for their
creativity and sewing skills. Congratulations
to Tayla McFarlane who was awarded Grand
Champion for a yellow silk gown.

PAINTING & DRAWING
Artists from across Queensland showcased
their extraordinary talents in the Painting and
Drawing Competition. All 542 paintings and
drawings entered in the competition were
judged onsite during the lockdown. Louise
Corke won the Champion Portrait of Show with
her portrait drawing titled ‘Tom’. The winning
artworks were displayed at the Ekka Art Show.

‘Traditional Veggie Garden Recipes’ was the
new theme for the School Garden competition
in 2021. Students were inspired to design
and grow a vegetable garden, before using
their produce to create a simple and delicious
recipe. The gardens were successfully judged,
with Nundah State School scooping the prize
pool, winning both the Prep to Grade 3 and
Grade 4 to 6 categories.

RIDERS WITH DISABILITY
The 2021 Riders with Disability classes took
place at Arundel Park Riding for the Disabled
Centre on 25 September where 35 riders
competed for 8 different classes.
28 of the 35 riders were first time entrants in
the Royal Queensland Show. In the case of
the Riders with Disability classes there are
very few opportunities for the young riders to
compete at such a prestigious level, so it was
wonderful to see the judging go ahead.

FLEECE BREEDS
Congratulations to Victoria Downs Merinos,
whose Stud Ram Merino Fleece was crowned

the Grand Champion in 2021 Ekka Wool
Competition. Councillor Will Roberts generously
hosted the competition, which saw more than
50 entries judged at his Morven woolshed in
Western Queensland.
The Alpaca Fleece Competition was also
successfully held offsite. The competition
saw 36 entries with two champions: Sunline
Alpacas was awarded Champion Huacaya
Fleece for their Sunline Optimus and Corie and
Tanya Ross won Champion Suri Fleece for their
Serenity Grooving Abigail.

YOUNG JUDGES
Virtual classes for the Young Judges competition
presented by Arrow Energy continued last
year, with 26 competitors entered. The Young
Judges competition encourages people aged
25 years and under to showcase their budding
talent as judges of beef cattle, dairy cattle
and more. Competitors were provided with a
video showcasing animals ready for judging
and were then required to submit their winners
with explanations as to why they placed the
animals in the order that they did. Judging of
the videos took place in the lead-up to Ekka.
Congratulations to winners Mikayla Crouch and
Seth Osborne who took out first place honours
in the Senior and Junior Dairy Cattle virtual
classes.

SCULPTURE
49 sculptures were judged for their artisanship and
creativity during the lockdown and were displayed at
the Ekka Art Show. Janna Pameijer won Champion
Sculpture for her life-size outdoor bronze sculpture titled
‘Whispers’ featuring two children sitting side by side.

GIANT PUMPKIN
Minden’s Geoff Frohloff only just outgrew
a first-time youth entrant with his 196kg
pumpkin, to win the Royal Queensland Show’s
Giant Pumpkin Competition supported by
Pillow Talk in April 2021.

Geoff Frohloff

The veteran grower’s almost 200kg giant
gourd saw him claim the coveted Champion
Heaviest Pumpkin of Show title, taking home a
total of $1,050 in prize money. Mr Frohloff was
almost pipped by eight-year-old entrant Jimmy
Finch from Bowenville with his whopping
171kg record setting youth entry. It was
Jimmy’s first time growing a giant pumpkin,
after being given the seeds by his teacher at
Bowenville State School in September 2020.
WATCH Ekka 2021 Giant Pumpkins

Play Video
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A PASSION FOR
PRODUCE
ROYAL QUEENSLAND FOOD & WINE SHOW

OVERVIEW
The prestigious Royal Queensland Food
and Wine Show (RQFWS) is dedicated
to recognising and rewarding Australia’s
outstanding producers and their produce.
In 2021 ongoing lock downs and COVID-19
restrictions impacted the normal operation of
the RQFWS competitions. Despite this several
competitions were successfully run or partially
completed including: the Beer Awards which
took place in March; the Branded Beef and
Lamb Competition; the Cheese and Dairy
Produce Show and Ice Cream, Gelato and
Sorbet Competition which were all judged in
May 2021; and the Royal Queensland Wine
Show (RQWS) which was partially judged in
June.
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PILSNER PROVES
AUSTRALIA’S BEST
BEER

Jenna Farrell and Raz Dyer from Sydney Brewery

The Royal Queensland Food and Wine
Show Beer Awards continued to grow in
2021 with a doubling of interstate entries
and a total of 485 beers from 71 breweries
entered.
A pilsner brewed by Sydney Brewery won
the title of Australia’s best beer and the Best
Queensland Beer of Show supported by
Treasury Brisbane went to Brisbane-based
Aether Brewing for their Hop Skip and
Jump IPA.
Rising star brewer Rowan Haling from
Burleigh Brewing Co claimed the new
Treasury Brisbane Best New Queensland
Craft Brewer Award, winning a 12-month
commercial contract to sell his brewery’s
beer across Treasury Brisbane’s wide array
of restaurants and bars.
WATCH 2021 RQFWS Beer Awards

Play Video
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David Clark from Stockyard and Yue Lin from Milani

QUEENSLAND HOME TO AUSTRALIA’S
BEST BEEF AND ICE CREAM
Queensland reclaimed its status as the beef
and ice cream capital of Australia at the
Royal Queensland Food and Wine Show
Awards in May 2021.
Australia’s best beef, lamb, cheese and ice
cream were crowned from a total of almost
500 entries, in the RQFWS’s largest ever
celebration of the nation’s finest produce.
Stockyard Black produced on the Darling
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Downs was named Australia’s best
steak, while Milani Minus Eight Degrees
in Sunnybank, Brisbane, took the title of
Australia’s best ice cream with their dark
chocolate lemon flavour. Queensland has
held onto the Grand Champion Branded
Beef of Show title since 2014.
Meanwhile Victoria proved it was the state
to beat when it came to lamb and cheese.
Midfield Meat International’s Union Station

product from Warrnambool was named
Australia’s best lamb, while Berrys Creek
Gourmet Cheese’s Riverine Blue made in
Gippsland won the title of Australia’s best
cheese.

Play Video

LOCKDOWN STOPS
THE WINE SHOW
The 2021 RQWS four-day judging process
started on Monday June 28, however due
to a snap three-day lockdown announced
by the Queensland Government on Tuesday
June 29, just one day and a half of judging
was able to be completed.
For 143 years thousands of winemakers
have entered the RQWS — the first capital
city wine show held in Australia each year
and the first to judge the new season's
vintage. So it was very disappointing for all
that judging could not be completed.
The judging panel did however successfully
judge almost 40 per cent of classes before
the lockdown, with medals and trophies
awarded in those classes. The RNA in
collaboration with the judges made the
difficult but necessary decision to not
reconvene judging. This was due to the
ongoing uncertainty surrounding interstate
judges returning to Brisbane considering
border closures and lockdowns across
several states. Exhibitors whose entries
were judged and awarded medals and
trophies before the lockdown received their
awards post-lockdown.
There was also a standalone judging of
Queensland entries by a Queensland
judging panel on Saturday 10 July.
Congratulations to Girraween Estate who
had their 2019 Estate Cabernet Sauvignon
awarded the Treasury Brisbane Best
Queensland Wine of Show.
Grape Grazing by Night was successfully
held on Friday 23 July as a celebration
of all RQFWS winners. This special event
was only possible with the support of the
generous RQWS exhibitors who donated
their wines for the event.
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PLACEMAKING
OUR BUSINESS

EXHIBITION STATION WORK UNDERWAY
Work is well underway at all Cross River Rail
main station sites including the Exhibition
Station. Just passing the two-year mark
for construction, the Cross River Rail team
continued work on the concrete deck for
Exhibition Station’s new twin track bridge
and almost completed a significant retaining
wall along Sideshow Alley during the year.
Cross River Rail is a new 10.2 kilometre rail
line from Dutton Park to Bowen Hills. The
project includes an upgrade to Exhibition
Station that will see it provide rail services
to and from the Brisbane Showgrounds
year-round as well as complement the
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ongoing development of the area as a major
lifestyle, recreational, health and housing
precinct. With more than 250 events held at
the Brisbane Showgrounds each year, the
upgrade will greatly improve access for all
attendees, as well as the 400,000+ Ekka
patrons annually.
Exhibition Station will connect with Albion
Station to the north, Cross River Rail
stations in the CBD, and Woolloongabba
and Boggo Road to the south, providing
local residents and visitors with significant
public transport improvements. The
upgrade will also provide King Street

residents and workers with a second
station, with the Fortitude Valley station also
in walking distance of the Showgrounds.
The upgraded station will feature a new
island platform with two platforms for
multidirectional travel, accessibility lifts and
stairs to the platform, and new accessible
toilets and a parents’ room.
Exhibition Station will be open for daily use
in time for Cross River Rail’s opening in late
2024 / early 2025.

Artist's impression of upgraded Exhibition Station
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YOUR VENUE
BRISBANE SHOWGROUNDS
ROYAL INTERNATIONAL CONVENTION CENTRE

OVERVIEW
Despite two years of unprecedented
change, lockdowns and continuing venue
and gathering restrictions, the Brisbane
Showgrounds experienced solid demand for
bookings in 2021, with concerts, festivals,
conferences and other big and small events
all taking place on ground.
In a highly dynamic year, the Venue Sales
team continued to deliver excellence in
customer service and successfully secured
repeat business and new business,
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achieving $6.55 million in sales for the
Royal International Convention Centre
and $1.55 million in sales for the Brisbane
Showgrounds.
During the year Brisbane Showgrounds
collaborated with many creative and
determined clients to host 165 events
including 41 banquets, 34 conferences, and
25 exhibitions and we enjoyed serving more
than 85,000 plates.

BACK TO THE FUTURE FOR
BRIDGE TO BRISBANE
The Brisbane Showgrounds was delighted
to welcome back the much-loved Sunday
Mail Bridge to Brisbane and its thousands of
competitors in November 2021. The return
of the Bridge to Brisbane to its original
course including the Gateway Bridge saw
the event conclude back at its inaugural
finishing line at the Showgrounds.

From its inception in 1997 until 2015, the
Showgrounds was the official finish line
for the popular event before it changed
course due to public development projects.
At the 2021 event competitors were
welcomed with a special Finish Village at the
Showgrounds.
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OUTDOOR ENTHUSIASTS REJOICED
THE RETURN OF QUEENSLAND’S LARGEST CARAVAN SHOW
The state’s largest caravanning show, the
six-day Let’s Go Queensland Caravan
and Camping Supershow returned to the
Brisbane Showgrounds in June.
Outdoor fans had lots to explore with
more than 200 exhibitors showcasing over
900 of the latest caravans, motorhomes,

campervans, camper/tent trailers and
slide-ons. Industry experts lead a variety
of masterclasses, live demonstrations and
workshops throughout the event while show
goers enjoyed an all-new off-road towing
test track and learning about bush cooking
and inspiring outdoor destinations.

HAPPY CAMPERS AT THE
4 X 4 OUTDOORS SHOW
2021 saw the return of large outdoor shows
to the Brisbane Showgrounds – under
COVID-Safe plans. Kicking off the year
in March 2021 was Queensland’s largest
outdoor lifestyle and adventure event, The
National 4 x 4 Outdoors Show, Fishing &
Boating Expo.
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The Brisbane Showgrounds has hosted The
National 4 x 4 Outdoors Show for almost 30
years and the 2021 event saw more than
200 industry leading brands and retailers
exhibit thousands of products including offroad camper trailers, caravans and tents,
new model 4WDs and camping gear and
fishing gear.

The Let’s Go Queensland Caravan and
Camping Supershow is the second-largest
annual event to be held at the historic
Showgrounds precinct, behind the Royal
Queensland Show (Ekka), and it has been
coming to the Brisbane Showgrounds for
an incredible 43 years.

WILDLANDS WELCOMED BACK
SUMMER MUSIC FESTIVALS
In December music lovers enjoyed the
return of the two-day Wildlands Festival
featuring an all-Australian line-up of acts,
flair, and fun.
More than 20 Australian artists including
some of the nation’s biggest electronic,
hip-hop, and pop acts performed to a near
sold out audience. The esteemed line-up

included Chillinit, Crooked Colours, Lime
Cordial, Mallrat, Triple One, The Veronicas
and more.
Featuring world-class production and stage
design, the event gave fans the opportunity
to enjoy the return of adrenaline pumping
summer music festivals once again.
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OFFICE BEARERS
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PATRON
His Excellency
The Honourable Paul de Jersey AC
Governor of Queensland

PRESIDENT

HONORARY
COUNCILLORS
A D Bassingthwaighte
A G Brimblecombe AM
T M Carew
W T Cummins

The Hon Justice D G Thomas

R I I Douglas

VICE-PRESIDENTS

V E Edwards OAM

D L O’Connor OAM and A G Adnam
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G J Hart AM

K J Onley

J M McMillan
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T V Fairfax AC

P Kesby
W R Lenehan

L F Robertson
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E T G Allen

J F Scott OAM
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE

J T Grant
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P C Little AM

AUDITOR

M L MacMillan

Stewart Douglas of Bentleys

A C Marsden
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D A McInnes OAM

Brisbane Showgrounds
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GOVERNANCE
RNA EXECUTIVE COUNCIL

The Hon Justice David Thomas

Daniel (Dan) L O’Connor OAM

PRESIDENT

SENIOR VICE-PRESIDENT

BCom LLB Hons Qld

DipTchng (BCAE) BEdSt (Qld) LLB (QUT)
LLM (Qld) FAIM MAICD

David Thomas became the RNA President
in 2011 after serving on the Council for
nine years, the last two as Senior VicePresident. He participates in all activities of
the association and is Chair of the Executive
Committee and of the Council Nominations
Committee. Following Council convention,
as President he is not a member of any
council or show committee. David has
more than 40 years experience as a lawyer.
Previously Senior Partner at Minter Ellison
Lawyers in Brisbane, he served as a Justice
of the Supreme Court of Queensland for
four years before becoming a Justice of the
Federal Court of Australia in July 2017. David
was the President of the Queensland Civil
and Administrative Tribunal from October
2013 to June 2017 and President of the
Administrative Appeals Tribunal (AAT) from
July 2017 until January 2022. From 2012
to October 2014 he served as the Deputy
President of the Royal Agricultural Society
of the Commonwealth (RASC) and remains
a Trustee of the RASC. Upon its formation
in 2016, David was an inaugural director of
Agricultural Shows Australia (ASA). He retired
from the Board of ASA in 2021. He is Deputy
Chair of Queensland Ballet and a Director of
The Society of The Sacred Advent Schools
Pty Ltd, which is the trustee of St Margaret's
and St Aidan's Anglican Girls Schools. He
is also a board member of the Association
Internationale des Haute Jurisdictions
Administratives. He served on the Board of
the Queensland Maritime Museum retiring as
Chair in 2016.
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Dan O’Connor is Vice President of the
Industrial Court of Queensland. He has been
an RNA Councillor since 2000, serving as
Honorary Treasurer and Junior Vice-President
before being elected Senior Vice-President
in September 2011. He is actively involved
in the RNA and oversees many aspects
of show planning including Chair of the
Entertainment, Horse Breeds Expo and
Appeals and Disciplinary Committees and a
member of the House and In-Show Catering,
Nominations, Horse and Arena, and Sheep
Dog Trials Committees. He is a former Trustee
of The Royal Agricultural Society of the
Commonwealth and is involved in a number
of not-for-profit organisations, in particular a
Trustee of the Edinburgh Declaration Trust,
a member of the Governing Council of the
Australian Judicial Officers Association and
Chairman of the Council of the Anglican
Church Grammar School.

Angus G Adnam

JUNIOR VICE-PRESIDENT
Managing Director of AAA Livestock
Services Pty Ltd, Angus Adnam has
brought a wealth of experience and
energy to the RNA Council since his
appointment in November 2005. An RNA
Steward and Honorary Council Steward
since 1978, he was elected Junior VicePresident in September 2011. He is
Chair of the committees that oversee the
Royal Queensland Food and Wine Show
competitions and a board member of
LiveCorp.

Jane Onley

Gary Noller

HONORARY TREASURER

A respected beef seed stock producer from
the Darling Downs, Gary Noller was elected
to the RNA Council in March 2010. Before
becoming an RNA Councillor, he was an
active supporter of the association having
judged and exhibited at a number of Royal
Queensland Shows. Mr Noller is Chair
of the RNA's Beef Cattle and Meat Hall,
Joint Stock, LAP Stakeholders and Young
Judges Committees and is a member of the
Executive, Education and Entries Committees.

BComm CA FGIA FCIS
Jane joined the RNA Council in November
2018 with extensive experience in the
agriculture and government sectors. As a
Chartered Accountant from a 'Big 4' audit
background and a Fellow of the Governance
Institute of Australia, Jane has spent the
previous 30+ years working in the commercial
and not-for-profit sectors. She has held
various roles in finance including Chief
Financial Officer, and currently serves as Head
of Governance and Risk for a Defence-related
Commonwealth entity. Jane and her husband
Nigel operate a cattle breeding and fattening
property at Taroom and are active members of
the Taroom Show Society.
Professor Peter Little AM
LLB LLM Qld PhD Bond FAIM FCPA
Peter Little was elected to the RNA Council
in March 2009 and is a member of the
Executive, Audit and Finance, Development,
Future Directions and Industry and
Sponsorship Committees. He is also Chair
of the HR and Remuneration Committee. He
is an Emeritus Professor at the Queensland
University of Technology, formerly a Deputy
Vice-Chancellor, and holds a Bachelor of Laws
and Master of Laws from the University of
Queensland and PhD from Bond University
Law School. He is a Fellow of CPA Australia,
Fellow of Queensland Academy of Arts
and Sciences and Fellow of the European
Foundation for Management Development. He
is a Director of Ormiston College, a Director
of the RACQ Foundation Pty Ltd and is a
member of the Governing Committee of the
Queensland Business Leaders Hall of Fame.

Don Chandler
B. Bus, Member AICD
Don Chandler joined the RNA Council in June
2015. He is currently a Partner of national
firm, Crestone Wealth Management. Crestone
evolved following the successful buyout of
UBS Wealth Management in Australia in June
2016. He and his family have had a long
association with the RNA. Mr Chandler is a
member of the Executive Committee and
Chair of Pisciculture, Poultry, Pigeons, Birds
and Eggs Committees, as well as Chair of
the RNA Foundation, the RNA's charity arm.
He is on the Investment Committee of the
RFDS Foundation and is a former President
of The Brookfield Show Society, Chairman
of the Brookfield Recreation Reserve Trust
and a Non-Executive Chairman of a private
Queensland family's investment interests.
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GOVERNANCE
RNA COUNCIL
Liz Allen

John Cotter

BA, Dip Ag Admin

BRTP GAICD FIML

A Steward and Honorary Council Steward
in the Stud Beef section since 2002, Liz
Allen was elected to Council in 2014. She is
Chair of the Quilts Committee and a member
of the Beef Cattle and Meat Hall and Joint
Stock Committees. Ms Allen, in partnership
with family, operates a large-scale stud and
commercial Santa Gertrudis beef operation
at Blackall. She brings extensive knowledge
of the beef industry and event management
to Council through her previous roles with the
RNA, Meat & Livestock Australia, AgForce
Queensland and Qld Primary Industries Week
Inc.

John Cotter was appointed to the RNA
Council in July 2016. He has a long
association with the RNA having been a junior
exhibitor, Beef and Woodchop Steward and
Honorary Council Steward, and Chair of the
Future Directions Committee. He serves on
the boards of Queensland Urban Utilities,
Translational Research Committee and
Phosphate International and the Powerhouse
Theatre, and is Chair of the RNA’s Industry
and Sponsorship and Woodchop Committees
and a member of the Appeals and Disciplinary
Committee.
David Fagan

Lionel J Blumel
Lionel Blumel has been involved with the RNA
as a Steward since 1986 and was elected
to the RNA Council in November 2006. He
is Chair of the Canine and Cats Committees
and is a member of the Charities, Ekka
Show Legend, Entries, Space and Letting,
Veterinary and Animal Welfare, and Joint
Stock Committees. Mr Blumel is a committee
member of the Samford Show Society,
patron of the Dalmatian Club of Qld, an
active member/supporter of a number of
dog clubs and active member of his local
community groups, working with people. He
is a now retired building construction project
manager and prior to retirement he managed
natural disaster recovery projects across
Queensland.
Wally Boydell
Wally Boydell was elected to the RNA Council
in December 2019 and has a long family
connection to the rural industry, as well as a
very keen interest in art having been a previous
entrant in the Royal Queensland Show Art
Competition, amongst others. He is Chair of
the Fine Arts Committee. He is a Real Estate
Agent, auctioneer, a Fellow of the Real Estate
Institute of Queensland and a Judge of the
Queensland and Australasian Auctioneering
Championships. Previously he owned
hardware stores and is a former Director of
Mitre 10 Queensland. He is also the Patron of
The Mary Boydell Endowment Fund of Yalari
Ltd, which is a not-for-profit organisation
offering secondary education scholarships
at leading Australian boarding schools for
Indigenous children from regional, rural and
remote communities.
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BA, GAICD
David Fagan is a consultant on media, digital
and reputational strategies. He is experienced
in the digital and media worlds and was editor
of The Courier-Mail then editor-in-chief of
News Queensland for 11 years from 2002.
He has since worked in senior levels of higher
education and superannuation and is the
author of three recent books, Wake Up - The
Nine H#shtags of Digital Disruption, Has the
Luck Run Out? and The Governors of Modern
Queensland. He is Chair of the Education
Committee and sits on the board of Carers
Queensland. He is married and the father of
three daughters.
Ian Ferguson
BA Qld JP (Qual)
Ian Ferguson is a long standing member of
the RNA, joining the Council in 2007 after
previously serving as an Honorary Ring
Steward and Honorary Council Steward.
He is currently Chair of the Horse and
Arena, Entries, and Space and Letting
Committees. He also serves on seven other
RNA committees. In 2015 he was appointed
Ekka Ringmaster. Ian retired as an Inspector
of Police at the Ethical Standards Command
and now undertakes a range of community
activities and has a broad background of
community involvement.
Jamie Grant
One of the most innovative and widely
respected Queensland cotton growers,
Jamie Grant and his wife Susie operate a
dryland cotton operation at their 2000 hectare
“Kielle’ property at Jimbour. Mr Grant has
been recognised for his pioneering cropping
techniques, sustainable cotton production,
land management and service to the
agricultural industry. In 2008 he was awarded
Dryland Grower of the Year, in 2009 Agririsk
Innovative Cotton Grower of the Year and in

2017 received the Darling Downs Growers –
Service to Industry Award.
Michael N Grieve
BEd NT DipEd BCAE
Michael Grieve was elected to the RNA
Council in 2006. He is assistant Ringmaster
and a member of the Horse and Arena
Committee ,as well as a member of the
Finance and Audit Committee and Chair
of the Charity Committee. Outside of the
RNA, he is Ringmaster and a member of the
Ipswich Show Society and executive member
of the Queensland Thoroughbred Breeders
Association.
Mary MacMillan
She is a member of the RNA’s Horse and
Arena Committee after serving as an Honorary
Council Steward in this Section since 2013, and
is also on the Legends, Vet & Biosecurity, and
Accommodation Committees. Mrs MacMillan
has a broad range of experience across varying
levels of nearly all equestrian disciplines having
fulfilled competitor, groom, team manager
and coaching roles for many years. Mary is
a well-recognised across equestrian events
throughout Eastern Australia as a Ringmaster,
Steward or Judge. Throughout this time Mary
has become a successful small business owner
in the high risk heavy equipment maintenance
and repair sector.
Anna Marsden
BA
Anna Marsden was appointed to the RNA
Council in December 2020. She is Managing
Director of the Great Barrier Reef Foundation
where she has driven record fundraising
growth for the Reef. Prior to joining the
Foundation in 2016, Ms Marsden was Chief
Executive of Queensland Ballet where she
led a major change program resulting in
enormous growth. She has worked extensively
across the Queensland creative and notfor-profit industries in managerial, marketing
and business development roles for almost
two decades. Ms Marsden’s previous roles
include General Manager of Creative at
Rowland - Australia’s leading corporate
communications agency, Development Director
of the Queensland Art Gallery and GoMA, and
General Manager at the Institute of Modern Art.
Duncan McInnes OAM
Duncan McInnes was elected to the RNA
Council in November 2011. He brings
extensive knowledge of the dairy industry
and is currently Chair of the Dairy Cattle
and Dairy Goats Committees. Mr McInnes,
in partnership with family, operates a large
dairy property “Inverclyde” at Harrisville, as
well as an agriculture and lucerne farm. He
is a former Chairman of Dairy Farmers Milk
Co-Operative which represents 400 members
across Australia and spent 12 years as a
director of Australian Co-Operative Foods

(Dairy Farmers). He is Deputy Mayor for the
Scenic Rim Regional Council and heavily
involved with local community organisations.
In January 2020 he was awarded an OAM for
services to agricultural show societies, to the
dairy industry and to the community.
Robin McLay
Robin McLay joined the RNA Council in
October 2015. She is Chair of the Flower
and Garden Committee and a member of
the Audit, Risk and Finance Committee. She
brings business and horticulture industry
knowledge to the Council, through her
previous experience in various industries
including agriculture, tourism, floristry,
hospitality, and horticulture. She is a director
of a successful national award-winning
Garden Centre and a Production Nursery.
Robin is on the steering committee for a
national recovery program for polypropylene
plant packaging.
Andrew Olive
Beef producer and owner of Raglan Brahman,
Andrew Olive, was appointed to the RNA
Council in December 2020. Together with his
wife Roxanne and their three children, they
successfully run seed stock and commercial
operations at properties in the Raglan and
Baralaba areas in central Queensland. Raglan is
home to a pre-export quarantine facility, owned
and operated by the Olive family, to prepare
cattle for live shipment from Port Alma. Mr
Olive and his wife both come from families that
were some of the original Australian Brahman
breeders, starting out in 1954 and 1947
respectively. The Olive family regularly attend
the Royal Queensland Show, Beef Australia
and numerous local shows in Queensland and
the Northern Territory to showcase Raglan
Brahman genetics. Mr Olive is a current
Australian Brahman Breeders Association
Board Member, serving for more than 25 years.
William Roberts
William is a stud merino sheep and cattle
producer who joined the RNA Council
in November 2011, following years of
involvement at the Charleville Show and
State Sheep Shows across Queensland.
He operates his property, Victoria Downs
in Morven. Mr Roberts is President of the
World Federation of Merino Breeders,
serving Councillor and past President of the
Queensland Merino Stud Sheepbreeders’
Association Incorporated and past President
of the Australian Association of Stud Merino
Breeders. He has been involved in showing
and judging merino sheep around Australia.
Mr Roberts is currently Chair of the RNA’s
Fleece Breeds and Boer Goats Committee.
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GOVERNANCE
RNA MANAGEMENT

Brendan Christou

Andrew Moore

CHIEF EXECUTIVE

CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

BBus QUT MBA Curtin CPA

BCom UQ BEc UQ FCPA MAICD
Comm Dec

Brendan Christou was appointed Chief
Executive of the RNA in 2012, after serving
as Deputy Chief Executive / Chief Operating
Officer since 2009. A Certified Practicing
Accountant, Mr Christou started at the RNA in
2004 as the association's Financial Controller.
His previous experience spans across the
retail, engineering and financial services
industries. He holds a Bachelor Business
(Accountancy) from QUT and completed
his Master of Business Administration from
Curtin University in 2008. Mr Christou is a
former board member of the International
Association of Fairs and Expositions (IAFE) is a
Past President of The Committee for Brisbane
and is currently a Director representing Royal
Members of Agricultural Shows Australia.

Andrew Moore joined the RNA in early 2015
as Chief Financial Officer. He is responsible
for the association’s financial management,
procurement, tax and regulatory compliance,
insurance, information technology and
the commercial aspects of the Brisbane
Showgrounds Regeneration Project. As
a senior executive with over 25 years’
experience in financial and commercial
management, business development, capital
raising, treasury operations and corporate
governance, Mr Moore brings a wealth of
experience to the RNA. His professional career
spans publicly listed and private companies,
the not-for-profit sector and government
enterprises across a diverse range of
industries including event management,
energy, mining, sport, hospitality and
education. Mr Moore is also an active member
of the Queensland surf lifesaving community.

Veronica Carew

Luke Pearl

GENERAL MANAGER,
COMMUNICATIONS

GENERAL MANAGER,
OPERATIONS

Veronica Carew joined the RNA in April 2010.
She has more than 25 years’ experience
in media and public relations. A strategic
communications specialist, Veronica has 15
years’ experience in the not-for-profit sector,
at a state and national level, developing
strategies and campaigns to promote the
interests of agriculture, education and the
over 50s in the media. Previously Veronica
spent eight years working as a journalist
and editor in the Australian print media.
In her current role at the RNA, Veronica is
responsible for developing and implementing
integrated communication strategies across
traditional and digital mediums, digital content
creation and branding, crisis management,
public relations initiatives, media and issues
management, and the management of internal
and external communications.

Luke Pearl joined the RNA in December 2017,
bringing with him a strong depth of experience
from the Hotel and Event precinct sectors.
Having worked nationally and internationally
over the past 20 years, Luke’s Executive
Management background includes Cluster
Director of Revenue for Marriott Hotels UK
South, Director of Operations at Tudor Park
(a Marriott Hotel and Country Club), General
Manager at Village Urban Resort London,
General Manager at Stamford Plaza Brisbane
and most recently General Manager at Accor
Hotels Sydney Olympic Park.
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Barbara Perrott

Stephen Galbraith

GENERAL MANAGER,
HUMAN RESOURCES

GENERAL MANAGER, ROYAL
QUEENSLAND SHOW AND ROYAL
QUEENSLAND FOOD & WINE
SHOW

BCom (HRM) Griffith Qld
Barbara Perrott joined the RNA in December
2014. In the two years prior to her permanent
appointment Ms Perrott provided consulting
services to the RNA, assisting with change
management strategies and advice. Ms Perrott
brings nearly 40 years of experience in the
Queensland Public Sector. She worked at the
senior executive level specialising in corporate
services management, leading organisational
change, organisational development, human
resource management and shared corporate
services. Immediately prior to the RNA, she
provided management consulting services
to small/medium organisations aimed at
improving leadership, strategy, culture and
general management practices.

Stephen Galbraith joined the RNA in July
2012, in the newly created position of General
Manager, Royal Queensland Show (Ekka)
and Royal Queensland Food and Wine Show
(RQFWS). He has almost 40 years’ experience
in the operation and management of events,
tourism and leisure attractions, including
Village Roadshow Theme Parks on the Gold
Coast and Asia’s Sunway Group where he
was CEO of the leisure arm which included
theme, water and animal parks such as
Sunway Lagoon in Kuala Lumpur. Mr Galbraith
has worked throughout Australia, Malaysia,
Singapore, Vietnam, Hong Kong, China and
the Middle East. His role with the iconic Ekka
has been in operation and business strategy
management and development, to assist the
rejuvenation of Queensland’s largest and most
loved annual event.

Jago Coyle

GENERAL MANAGER, VENUE
SALES & MARKETING
Jago Coyle joined the RNA in 2015, bringing a
depth of experience from the hotel and events
industries, both nationally and internationally.
Prior to being appointed to General Manager
of Venue Sales and Marketing at the RNA, Mr
Coyle was the Director of Sales and Marketing
at both the Sofitel and Marriott Hotels in
Brisbane, Director of Sales and Marketing at
the London Marriott and Executive Apartments
West India Quay, Canary Wharf London. He
has also had experience in working with large
events such as the Olympics, G20, UEFA
European Championship & Commonwealth
Games, and was also Deputy General
Manager in hotels, a Director of Rooms and
Director of Food and Beverage in various
hotels, but started his professional life as a
chef for eight years.
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THE ROYAL NATIONAL AGRICULTURAL AND
INDUSTRIAL ASSOCIATION OF QUEENSLAND
FINANCIAL REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
The Councillors present their report together with the financial report of The Royal National Agricultural and Industrial Association of Queensland
(“the RNA”) for the year ended 31 December 2021 and auditors report thereon.
The names of the Councillors in office at any time during or since the end of the year are:

COUNCIL MEETINGS*
COUNCIL MEMBERS

YEAR OF
APPOINTMENT

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE
MEETINGS*

NUMBER
NUMBER
NUMBER
NUMBER
ELIGIBLE TO
ELIGIBLE TO
ATTENDED
ATTENDED
ATTEND
ATTEND

Mr A G Adnam – Junior Vice President

2005

7

7

28

25

Ms E T G Allen

2014

7

4

Mr L J Blumel

2006

7

5

Mr R Bower (1)

2015

1

1

Mr W Boydell

2019

7

7

Mr D Chandler

2015

7

6

28

25

Mr J Cotter

2016

7

6

Mr D Fagan

2017

7

6

Mr I W Ferguson

2007

7

7

Mr J Grant

2019

7

5

Mr M N Grieve

2006

7

5

Prof P C Little AM

2009

7

7

28

27

Ms M MacMillan (2)

2021

6

6

Ms A Marsden

2020

7

7

Mr D A McInnes OAM

2011

7

5

Mrs R McLay

2015

7

7

Mr G J Noller

2010

7

6

28

27

Mr D L O’Connor OAM – Senior Vice President

2000

Mr A Olive

2020

7

7

28

28

3

1

Mrs J Onley

2018

7

7

28

26

Mr W L Roberts

2011

7

7

Hon Justice D G Thomas – President

2002

7

7

28

26

Notes:
(1) Resigned from Council March 2021
(2) Appointed to Council April 2021
* Council and Executive Council Meetings were also attended by the Chief Executive and the Chief Financial Officer
The Councillors have been in office since the start of the year to the date of this report unless otherwise stated.
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RESULTS AND OPERATIONS
The deficit of the association for the year amounted to $9,807,995 (2020 deficit: $1,058,189).
The critical measure of operational Earnings before Interest, Tax, Depreciation and Amortisation (EBITDA) was a deficit of $5,506,052 in the year
(2020 deficit of $3,161,431). This result excludes one off revenue transactions. The unprecedented and sustained impact of COVID-19 on the
operations of the RNA, including the cancellation of the Royal Queensland Show, severely impacted all revenue streams. Through some land
transactions and federal funding assistance along with actions by the RNA to reduce operational and discretionary costs, a stable cash position was
maintained.
As in previous years, the accounts contain realisation of proceeds from the Showgrounds redevelopment, offset by the continued recognition of
Interest on the loan and depreciation for the Convention Centre.
The closing cash position (including term deposits) of the RNA was $4,592,905 (2020: $8,939,633). The RNA has established a working capital
facility with QTC of $3 Million which was undrawn at year end.

STRATEGIC DIRECTION OF THE ASSOCIATION
The RNA’s mission is to celebrate and champion the essential role agriculture plays in the everyday lives of Queenslanders.
The RNA’s vision focuses on the ongoing successful staging of the Ekka at the Brisbane Showgrounds, establishing the Brisbane Showgrounds and
the Royal International Convention Centre (Royal ICC) as Queensland’s leading events venues, and transforming the Brisbane Showgrounds precinct
into a destination.
The RNA has also embarked on a redevelopment program to transform the Showgrounds into a vibrant mixed use precinct that is utilised all year
round. The redevelopment provides the RNA with new and improved exhibition facilities as well as other income generating assets which form a
significant part of the RNA diversification strategy.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The principal activity of the association is to provide facilities and personnel to celebrate and champion the essential role agriculture plays in the
everyday lives of Queenslanders.
The RNA achieves its objectives via a number of means, however, its primary method is through the staging of the Royal Queensland Show in
August each year. The Show is the State’s premier exhibition of Queensland’s primary and agricultural industries.
No significant change in the nature of these activities occurred during the year.

COUNCILLORS’ REMUNERATION
Councillors’ receive no remuneration for their services.

INDEMNIFICATION OF COUNCILLORS AND OFFICERS
The RNA has agreed to reimburse the reasonable costs (including but not limited to legal fees) incurred by any current or past Councillor or Officer in
relation to the performance of his or her duties as a Councillor or Officer of the RNA provided:
(i) the person is not charged with any offence, or if charged, is subsequently acquitted of all charges;
(ii) any investigations or hearings do not reveal conduct by that person which constitutes conduct which breaches that person’s fiduciary relationship
with the RNA whether that person is charged or not or convicted or not;
(iii) the person’s conduct is not unbecoming of a person holding the position, which that person held at the time of the conduct.
The level of such reimbursement is to be set by the Executive Committee.
The RNA has paid insurance premiums for Councillor’s and Officers’ Insurance since the end of the previous year. The Councillors have not included
details of the nature of the liabilities covered or the amount of the premium paid in respect of the Councillors’ and Officers’ liability and legal expenses
insurance contracts as such disclosures is prohibited under the terms of the contract.
Signed in accordance with a resolution of the members of the Council.

Council member:

Hon Justice D G Thomas ‑ President

Council member:

Ms J Onley ‑ Honorary Treasurer

Dated this 25th day of March 2022
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
REVENUE

NOTES

Ground operations and venue rental
Show operations
Membership subscription

2021

2020

13,037,397

8,185,295

1,517,593

980,557

-

166,365

Redevelopment income

3

-

30,062

Net compensation revenue

3

1,131,366

4,579,139

Proceeds from sale of assets

3

17,100

-

782,000

4,172,950

-

3,258,432

1,851,555

1,353,279

18,337,011

22,726,079

Ground operations and venue costs

(4,778,588)

(3,177,372)

Show operations costs

(2,036,373)

(923,819)

(3,105,610)

(3,112,545)

(12,028,050)

(11,355,436)

(2,358,578)

(2,696,560)

Showgrounds maintenance

(1,051,671)

(565,638)

Other expenses

(2,786,136)

(1,920,865)

-

(32,033)

(28,145,006)

(23,784,268)

(9,807,995)

(1,058,189)

Federal wage and other subsidies
Federal supporting agricultural shows grant
Other revenue

TOTAL REVENUE
LESS : EXPENSES

Depreciation and amortisation expense

3

Employee benefits expense
Finance costs

COGS – redevelopment

TOTAL EXPENSES
PROFIT / (LOSS) BEFORE INCOME TAX EXPENSE

3

3

Income tax expense

PROFIT / (LOSS) FOR THE YEAR

-

(9,807,995)

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE PROFIT / (LOSS)

(1,058,189)
-

(9,807,995)

(1,058,189)

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 2021
CURRENT ASSETS

NOTES

2021

2020

Cash and cash equivalents

4

4,592,905

8,939,633

Receivables

5

1,077,840

1,827,852

Inventories

6

302,082

363,453

Redevelopment work in progress

9

-

-

Other assets

7

1,104,924

828,767

7,077,751

11,959,705

NOTES

2021

2020

Receivables

5

169,113

169,113

Other assets

7

1,624,290

1,624,290

Intangible assets

8

67,072

228,025

Redevelopment work in progress

9

8,005,678

8,005,678

Property, plant and equipment

10

90,024,579

92,510,784

99,890,732

102,537,890

106,968,483

114,497,595

2021

2020

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS
NON‑CURRENT ASSETS

TOTAL NON‑CURRENT ASSETS
TOTAL ASSETS
CURRENT LIABILITIES

NOTES

Payables

11

2,137,466

2,194,026

Borrowings

12

6,317,251

5,936,784

Provisions

13

654,761

753,356

Other liabilities

14

4,408,280

3,253,486

13,517,758

12,137,652

2021

2020

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES
NON‑CURRENT LIABILITIES

NOTES

Borrowings

12

60,647,761

66,711,777

Provisions

13

3,233,469

3,168,676

Other liabilities

14

35,910,999

29,012,999

99,792,229

98,893,452

113,309,987

111,031,104

(6,341,504)

3,466,491

NOTES

2021

2020

15

901,121

717,490

(7,242,625)

2,749,001

(6,341,504)

3,466,491

TOTAL NON‑CURRENT LIABILITIES
TOTAL LIABILITIES
NET ASSETS
MEMBERS FUNDS
Reserves
Accumulated surplus

TOTAL MEMBERS FUNDS
The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements
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STATEMENT OF MEMBERS FUNDS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
RESERVES $

ACCUMULATED
SURPLUS $

TOTAL EQUITY $

625,607

3,899,073

4,524,680

Profit / (Loss) for the year

-

(1,058,189)

(1,058,189)

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR

-

(1,058,189)

(1,058,189)

91,883

(91,883)

-

717,490

2,749,001

3,466,491

717,490

2,749,001

3,466,491

-

(9,807,995)

(9,807,995)

183,631

(183,631)

-

901,121

(7,242,625)

(6,341,504)

BALANCE AS AT 1 JANUARY 2020

Transfers to reserves
Balance as at 31 December 2020

BALANCE AS AT 1 JANUARY 2021
Profit / (Loss) for the year

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR
Transfers to reserves

BALANCE AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2021
The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
2021

2020

22,097,791

24,448,039

(24,782,972)

(18,121,309)

Interest received

19,031

32,309

Finance costs

(6,866)

(3,995)

(2,673,016)

6,355,044

2021

2020

(553,551)

(161,315)

-

(15,689)

17,100

-

6,898,000

7,251,000

6,361,549

7,073,996

2021

2020

(8,035,261)

(8,035,267)

(8,035,261)

(8,035,267)

2021

2020

Cash at beginning of the financial year

8,939,633

3,545,860

Net increase / (decrease) in cash held

(4,346,728)

5,393,773

4,592,905

8,939,633

CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

NOTES

Receipts from customers
Payments to suppliers and employees

NET CASH PROVIDED BY / (USED IN) OPERATING ACTIVITIES
CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

17
NOTES

Payment for property, plant and equipment and intangible assets
Payments for land held for resale
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment
Proceeds from (Payments to) Lend Lease

NET CASH PROVIDED BY/ (USED IN) INVESTING ACTIVITIES
CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

NOTES

Principal and Interest paid on QTC Loan

NET CASH USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES
RECONCILIATION OF CASH

CASH AT END OF FINANCIAL YEAR
The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements

PAGE 40 RNA 2021 ANNUAL REPORT

NOTES

4

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
NOTE 1: STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The Royal National Agricultural and Industrial Association of Queensland (“the Association”) is a body corporate under the Royal National Agricultural
and Industrial Association of Queensland Act 1971 (the “RNA Act”) as amended.
The financial report was approved by the Council as at the date of the Councillors’ report.
The following is a summary of the material accounting policies adopted by the Association in the preparation and presentation of the financial report.
The accounting policies have been consistently applied, unless otherwise stated.
(a) Basis of preparation of the financial report
The financial report is a general purpose financial report that has been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards ‑ Reduced
Disclosure Requirements, Interpretations and other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board and the RNA Act.
The RNA is a not‑for‑profit entity for the purpose of preparation of the financial statements.
Compliance with Australian Accounting Standards ‑ Reduced Disclosure Requirements
The financial statements of the RNA comply with the Australian Accounting Standards ‑ Reduced Disclosure Requirements as issued by the
Australian Accounting Standards Board.
Historical Cost Convention
The financial report has been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by revaluations to fair value for certain classes of assets as
described in the accounting policies.
(b) Revenue
Revenue Recognition
Royal Queensland Show, Ground Operations & Venue Rental, Rendering of Services, Capital Grants and Subsidies
When the Association receives these types of revenues, it assesses whether the contract is enforceable and has sufficiently specific performance
obligations in accordance to AASB 15
When both these conditions are satisfied, the Association:
•

identifies each performance obligation relating to the revenue;

•

recognises a contract liability for its obligations under the agreement; and

•

recognises revenue as it satisfies its performance obligations.

Where the contract is not enforceable or does not have sufficiently specific performance obligations, the Association:
•

recognises the asset received in accordance with the recognition requirements of other applicable Accounting Standards (for example AASB 9,
AASB 16, AASB 116 and AASB 138);

•

recognises related amounts (being lease liability, financial instruments, provisions, revenue or contract liability arising from a contract with a
customer); and

•

recognises income immediately in profit or loss as the difference between the initial carrying amount of the asset and the related amount.

If a contract liability is recognised as a related amount above, the Association recognises income in profit or loss when or as it satisfies its obligations
under the contract.
Sale of goods revenue is recognised at the point of delivery as this corresponds to the performance obligation resulting in the transfer of significant
risks and rewards of ownership of the goods and the cessation of all involvement in those goods.
Interest revenue is recognised using the effective interest method.
All revenue is stated net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST).
(c) Income tax
No provision for income tax has been raised as the Association is exempt from income tax under Section 50‑40 of the Income Tax Assessment Act
1997.
(d) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and at banks and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current liabilities
in the statement of financial position.
(e) Inventories
Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Inventories are primarily consumable stores used by the RNA in its operations.
(f) Financial instruments
Initial recognition and measurement
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Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Association becomes a party to the contractual provisions to the instrument. For
financial assets, this is the date that the Association commits itself to either the purchase or sale of the asset (ie trade date accounting is adopted).
Financial instruments (except for trade receivables) are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs, except where the instrument is classified
“at fair value through profit or loss”, in which case transaction costs are expensed to profit or loss immediately. Where available, quoted prices in an
active market are used to determine fair value. In other circumstances, valuation techniques are adopted.
Trade receivables are initially measured at the transaction price if the trade receivables do not contain a significant financing component.
Classification and subsequent measurement
Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are subsequently measured at:
•

amortised cost; or

•

fair value through profit or loss.

A financial liability is measured at fair value through profit or loss if the financial liability is:
•

held for trading; or

•

initially designated as at fair value through profit or loss.

All other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating interest expense in profit or loss
over the relevant period.
The effective interest rate is the internal rate of return of the financial asset or liability, that is, it is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future
cash flows through the expected life of the instrument to the net carrying amount at initial recognition.
Any gains or losses arising on changes in fair value are recognised in profit or loss to the extent that they are not part of a designated hedging
relationship.
The change in fair value of the financial liability attributable to changes in the issuer’s credit risk is taken to other comprehensive income and is not
subsequently reclassified to profit or loss. Instead, it is transferred to retained earnings upon derecognition of the financial liability.
If taking the change in credit risk in other comprehensive income enlarges or creates an accounting mismatch, then these gains or losses should be
taken to profit or loss rather than other comprehensive income.
A financial liability cannot be reclassified.
Financial guarantee contracts
A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a
specified debtor fails to make payment when due in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.
Financial guarantee contracts are initially measured at fair value (and if not designated as at fair value through profit or loss and do not arise from a
transfer of a financial asset) and subsequently measured at the higher of:
•

the amount of loss allowance determined in accordance to AASB 9.3.25.3; and

•

the amount initially recognised less accumulative amount of income recognised in accordance with the revenue recognition policies.

Financial assets
Financial assets are subsequently measured at:
•

amortised cost;

•

fair value through other comprehensive income; or

•

fair value through profit or loss.

Measurement is on the basis of two primary criteria:
•

the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset; and

•

the business model for managing the financial assets.

A financial asset that meets the following conditions is subsequently measured at amortised cost:
•

the financial asset is managed solely to collect contractual cash flows; and

•

the contractual terms within the financial asset give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding on specified dates.

A financial asset that meets the following conditions is subsequently measured at fair value through other comprehensive income:
•

the contractual terms within the financial asset give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding on specified dates; and

•

the business model for managing the financial asset comprises both contractual cash flows collection and the selling of the financial asset.

By default, all other financial assets that do not meet the measurement conditions of amortised cost and fair value through other comprehensive
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income are subsequently measured at fair value through profit or loss.
The Association initially designates a financial instrument as measured at fair value through profit or loss if:
•

it eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency (often referred to as an “accounting mismatch”) that would
otherwise arise from measuring assets or liabilities or recognising the gains and losses on them on different bases;

•

it is in accordance with the documented risk management or investment strategy and information about the groupings is documented
appropriately, so the performance of the financial liability that is part of a group of financial liabilities or financial assets can be managed and
evaluated consistently on a fair value basis; and

•

it is a hybrid contract that contains an embedded derivative that significantly modifies the cash flows otherwise required by the contract.

The initial designation of the financial instruments to measure at fair value through profit or loss is a one-time option on initial classification and is
irrevocable until the financial asset is derecognised.
Derecognition
Derecognition refers to the removal of a previously recognised financial asset or financial liability from the statement of financial position.
Derecognition of financial liabilities
A liability is derecognised when it is extinguished (ie when the obligation in the contract is discharged, cancelled or expires). An exchange of an
existing financial liability for a new one with substantially modified terms, or a substantial modification to the terms of a financial liability, is treated as
an extinguishment of the existing liability and recognition of a new financial liability.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and payable, including any non-cash
assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or loss.
Derecognition of financial assets
A financial asset is derecognised when the holder’s contractual rights to its cash flows expires, or the asset is transferred in such a way that all the
risks and rewards of ownership are substantially transferred.
All the following criteria need to be satisfied for the derecognition of a financial asset:
•

the right to receive cash flows from the asset has expired or been transferred;

•

all risk and rewards of ownership of the asset have been substantially transferred; and

•

the Association no longer controls the asset (ie it has no practical ability to make unilateral decisions to sell the asset to a third party).

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the
consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.
On derecognition of a debt instrument classified as fair value through other comprehensive income, the cumulative gain or loss previously
accumulated in the investment revaluation reserve is reclassified to profit or loss.
Impairment
The Association recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses on:
•

financial assets that are measured at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive income;

•

lease receivables;

•

contract assets (eg amount due from customers under construction contracts);

•

loan commitments that are not measured at fair value through profit or loss; and

•

financial guarantee contracts that are not measured at fair value through profit or loss.

Loss allowance is not recognised for financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss.
Expected credit losses are the probability-weighted estimate of credit losses over the expected life of a financial instrument. A credit loss is the
difference between all contractual cash flows that are due and all cash flows expected to be received, all discounted at the original effective interest
rate of the financial instrument.
The Association uses the following approaches to impairment, as applicable under AASB 9: Financial Instruments:
•

the general approach; and

•

the simplified approach;

General approach
Under the general approach, at each reporting period, the Association assessed whether the financial instruments are credit impaired, and:
•

if the credit risk of the financial instrument increased significantly since initial recognition, the Association measured the loss allowance of the
financial instruments at an amount equal to the lifetime expected credit losses; and

•

if there was no significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the Association measured the loss allowance for that financial
instrument at an amount equal to 12-month expected credit losses.
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Simplified approach
The simplified approach does not require tracking of changes in credit risk at every reporting period, but instead requires the recognition of lifetime
expected credit loss at all times.
This approach is applicable to:
•

trade receivables or contract assets that result from transactions that are within the scope of AASB 15: Revenue from Contracts with
Customers, and which do not contain a significant financing component; and

•

lease receivables.

In measuring the expected credit loss, a provision matrix for trade receivables is used taking into consideration various data to get to an expected
credit loss (ie diversity of its customer base, appropriate groupings of its historical loss experience, etc).
Recognition of expected credit losses in financial statements
At each reporting date, the Association recognises the movement in the loss allowance as an impairment gain or loss in the statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income.
The carrying amount of financial assets measured at amortised cost includes the loss allowance relating to that asset.
Assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income are recognised at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in other
comprehensive income. The amount in relation to change in credit risk is transferred from other comprehensive income to profit or loss at every
reporting period.
For financial assets that are unrecognised (eg loan commitments yet to be drawn, financial guarantees), a provision for loss allowance is created in
the statement of financial position to recognise the loss allowance.
(g) Property, plant and equipment
Each class of property, plant and equipment is carried at cost or fair value less, where applicable, any accumulated depreciation and any
accumulated impairment losses.
Property
Property is measured on a cost basis.
Plant and equipment
Plant and equipment is measured on the cost basis.
The carrying amount of plant and equipment is reviewed annually by Council to ensure it is not in excess of the recoverable amount from those
assets. The recoverable amount is assessed on the basis of the expected net cash flows which will be received from the assets employment and
subsequent disposal. The expected net cash flows have been discounted to present values in determining recoverable amounts.
Depreciation
The depreciable amount of all fixed assets are depreciated over their estimated useful lives commencing from the time the asset is held ready for
use. Land and the land component of any class of fixed asset is not depreciated.
Freehold land and buildings are carried at cost or at independent or Council valuation.

CLASS OF FIXED ASSET

DEPRECIATION RATES

DEPRECIATION BASIS

Buildings at cost

2‑26%

Straight line

Plant and equipment at cost

2‑33%

Straight line

Sub‑stations and electrical equipment

5‑20%

Straight line

(h) Land held for resale
Non‑current assets are classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered principally through a sale transaction rather than through
continuing use and a sale is considered highly probable. They are measured at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell.
(i) Intangibles
Other intangibles
Intangible assets consist of computer software acquired to assist in managing the operations of the Association.
Software assets are initially recorded at the purchase price. Other intangible assets are amortised on a straight line basis over the period of 3‑5
years. The balances are reviewed annually and any balance representing future benefits the realisation of which is considered to be no longer
probable are written off.
(j) Impairment
Assets with an indefinite useful life are not amortised but are tested annually for impairment in accordance with AASB 136. Assets subject to annual
depreciation or amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or circumstances arise that indicate that the carrying amount of the asset
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may be impaired.
An impairment loss is recognised where the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount of an asset is
defined as the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and value in use.
(k) Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the association has a legal or constructive obligation, as a result of past events, for which it is probable that an
outflow of economic benefits will result and that outflow can be reliably measured.
(l) Leases
The Association as lessee
At inception of a contract, the Association assesses if the contract contains or is a lease. If there is a lease present, a right-of-use asset and a
corresponding lease liability is recognised by the Association where the Association is a lessee.
However, all contracts that are classified as short-term leases (ie a lease with a remaining lease term of 12 months or less) and leases of low-value
assets are recognised as an operating expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Variable lease payments which do not depend on
an index or a rate are excluded from the initial measurement of the lease liability and asset.
Concessionary Leases
For leases that have significantly below-market terms and conditions principally to enable the Association to further its objectives (commonly known
as peppercorn/concessionary leases), the Association has adopted the temporary relief under AASB 2018-8 and measures the right-of-use assets
at cost on initial recognition.
The Association as lessor
The Association leases parts of its land to external parties.
Upon entering into each contract as a lessor, the Association assesses if the lease is a finance or operating lease
The contract is classified as a finance lease when the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee. All
other leases not within this definition are classified as operating leases.
Rental income received from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the specific lease.
Initial direct costs incurred in entering into an operating lease (for example legal cost, cost to setup) are included in the carrying amount of the leased
asset and recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
Rental income due under finance leases is recognised as receivables at the amount of the Association’s net investment in the leases.
When a contract is determined to include lease and non-lease components, the Association applies AASB 15 to allocate the consideration under the
contract to each component.
(m) Employee benefits
(i) Short‑term employee benefit obligations
Liabilities arising in respect of wages and salaries, annual leave, and any other employee benefits expected to be wholly settled within twelve months
of the reporting date are measured at their nominal amounts based on remuneration rates which are expected to be paid when the liability is settled.
The expected cost of short‑term employee benefits in the form of compensated absences such as annual leave and accumulated sick leave is
recognised in the provision for employee benefits. All other short‑term employee benefit obligations are presented as payables.
(ii) Long‑term employee benefit obligations
Liabilities arising in respect of long service leave and annual leave which is not expected to be settled within twelve months of the reporting date are
measured at the present value of the estimated future cash outflow to be made in respect of services provided by employees up to the reporting
date.
Employee benefit obligations are presented as current liabilities in the balance sheet if the Association does not have an unconditional right to defer
settlement for at least twelve months after the reporting date, regardless of when the actual settlement is expected to occur.
(n) Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs can include interest, amortisation of discounts or premiums relating to borrowings and ancillary costs incurred in connection with
arrangement of borrowings.
Borrowing costs are expensed as incurred, except for borrowing costs incurred as part of the cost of the construction of a qualifying asset which are
capitalised until the asset is ready for its intended use or sale.
(o) Goods and services tax (GST)
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the Tax
Office. In these circumstances the GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of an item of the expense. Receivables
and payables in the statement of financial position are shown inclusive of GST.
Cash flows are presented in the statement of cash flows on a gross basis, except for the GST component of investing and financing activities, which
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are disclosed as operating cash flows.
(p) Comparatives
Where necessary, comparative information has been reclassified and repositioned for consistency with current year disclosures.
(q) Trust funds
The RNA from time to time receives monies from third parties to be held in trust and used for specific prize payments where the particular prize is
eligible to be paid. These monies accrue interest at the average term deposit rate with any prizes paid deducted from the balance of the trust fund.
(r) Going Concern
During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Association made a loss of $9,807,995 (2020: loss $1,058,189). At 31 December 2021, the
Association has net liabilities of $6,341,504 (2020: net assets of $3,466,491) and a working capital deficit of $6,440,007 (2020: deficit $177,947).
Operating cash outflows were $2,673,016 (2020 inflow of $6,355,044). The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis,
which contemplates the realisation of assets and extinguishment of liabilities in the ordinary course of business.
Net Current Asset Position
At 31 December 2021 the Association’s current liabilities exceed its current assets by $6,440,007 (2020: $177,947). The deficiency in current assets
is primarily caused by:
1.

QTC Loans - $6,317,251 (2020: $5,936,784) (refer note 12)

2.

The repayments on this loan will be funded by Lend Lease by way of Advance Land Payments through the RNADF as stipulated under the
Project Development Agreement (PDA).

3.

Venue hire rent and bonds & Other - $4,408,280 (2020: $3,253,486) (refer note 14)

4.

These amounts relate to future events and/or performance obligations of contracts that are yet to be satisfied. It should be noted that monies
relating to these items have already been received and will be transferred to revenue once the recognition criteria have been met, as such these
do not require any future cash outflows to settle these liabilities.

Net Liability Position
5.

At 31 December 2021 the Association’s total liabilities exceed its total assets by $6,341,504. The deficiency in total assets is primarily caused
by:

6.

QTC Loans - $29,781,868 (2020: $35,718,690) (refer note 12)

7.

The repayments on this loan will be funded by Lend Lease by way of Advance Land Payments through the RNADF as stipulated under the
Project Development Agreement (PDA).

8.

Prepaid Land Entitlements – The Yards - $4,298,447 (2020: $4,298,447) (refer note 14)

9.

This amount consists of Land Entitlements paid by Lend Lease in 2016 and 2017 prior to The Yards property settlements which will occur in
future periods. This prepayment will be taken up as revenue when property settlements occur, as such these do not require any future cash
outflows to settle these liabilities.

10. In addition, the Association currently has a working capital facility with QTC to the value of $3,000,000, that has not been drawn down on as
at 31 December 2021 (2020: $nil). This facility is set to expire on 31 December 2022, however is expected to be renewed as has occurred
historically.
Liquidity
In March 2022, the Association received a grant of $6,506,620 from the Department of Agriculture, Water and Environment in relation to the
Supporting Agricultural Shows and Field Days grant program for those bodies that were forced to cancel their shows during 2021.
Based on the Association’s forward cash flow projections, it indicates that the Association is able to meet its debts as and when they become due
and payable.
On this basis the Councillor’s have determined that the financial report should be prepared on a going concern basis
(s) Sinking fund
The RNA entered into a Site Management Agreement in 2016 which provides governance over the shared Brisbane Showgrounds precinct public
realm. Under this agreement, a Sinking Fund containing contributions from each property across the Brisbane Showgrounds Precinct has been
established to provide funds for future capital maintenance and improvements in public realm areas.

NOTE 2: CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
Certain accounting estimates include assumptions concerning the future, which, by definition, will seldom represent actual results. Estimates and
assumptions based on future events have a significant inherent risk, and where future events are not as anticipated there could be a material impact
on the carrying amounts of the assets and liabilities discussed below:
(a) Impairment
All assets are assessed for impairment at each reporting date by evaluating whether indicators of impairment exist in relation to the continued use of
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the asset by the RNA. If an indicator of impairment exists the recoverable amount of the asset is determined.
(b) Useful lives of property, plant and equipment
Useful lives of property, plant and equipment are based upon expectations of the consumption of the assets at their acquisition date and are
re‑assessed annually. The actual useful lives of property, plant and equipment may vary for various reasons from the useful lives adopted for
depreciation purposes.

NOTE 3: OPERATING SURPLUS
PROFIT / (LOSS) BEFORE INCOME TAX HAS BEEN DETERMINED AFTER:

2021

2020

17,100

-

- Loss on disposal of non-current assets

(95,097)

(18,393)

‑ Profit / (Loss) on sale or disposal of property, plant and equipment

(77,997)

(18,393)

-

30,062

-

30,062

‑ Land held for resale - expensed

-

12,663

- Duties and Taxes

-

17,970

- Lend Lease performance payments

-

1,400

-

32,033

1,131,366

4,579,139

2,387,583

2,386,018

618,062

629,088

34,111

31,446

3,039,756

3,046,552

65,854

65,993

62,145

(22,978)

2,358,578

2,696,560

Net gain on disposal of non‑current assets:
- Proceeds from sale of assets

‑ Redevelopment Net Revenue - The Green

Cost of Goods Sold - Redevelopment

Net gain on Compensation claims

Depreciation
‑ Buildings
‑ Plant and equipment
‑ Sub‑stations and electrical equipment

Amortisation of non‑current assets
‑ Software
Bad debts
‑ Trade receivables
Finance costs
- Interest and Finance charges paid/payable for financial liabilities not at fair value through the profit and loss
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NOTE 4: CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
2021

2020

16,836

26,676

4,576,069

8,912,957

4,592,905

8,939,633

2021

2020

763,819

1,032,148

(2,077)

(1,641)

761,742

1,030,507

236,723

796,517

79,375

828

1,077,840

1,827,852

2021

2020

169,113

169,113

IMPAIRMENT OF TRADE RECEIVABLES

2021

2020

Opening balance at 1 January

1,641

41,341

62,145

(21,337)

(61,709)

(18,363)

2,077

1,641

2021

2020

302,082

363,453

CURRENT

2021

2020

Prepayments

397,388

258,622

151

431

599,073

445,754

5,261

46,877

103,051

77,083

1,104,924

828,767

2021

2020

Prepaid EDQ (Economic Development Qld) Infrastructure Levies – The Yards

1,408,085

1,408,085

Prepaid EDQ (Economic Development Qld) Infrastructure Levies – The Green

216,205

216,205

1,624,290

1,624,290

Cash on hand
Cash at bank

NOTE 5: RECEIVABLES
CURRENT
Trade receivables
Provision for impairment

Other receivables
GST receivable

NON CURRENT
Land entitlements – The Green

Charge for the year
Amounts written off (uncollectable)

CLOSING BALANCE AT 31 DECEMBER
NOTE 6: INVENTORIES
CURRENT
At cost

FINISHED GOODS
NOTE 7: OTHER ASSETS

Restricted cash – RNADF (a)
Restricted cash – SMA Sinking Fund (b)
Restricted cash – SMA Administration Fund (c)
Restricted cash – King Street Carpark Account (e)

NON CURRENT
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(a) Restricted cash – RNADF
The RNA development fund (RNADF) is an account established to receive Land Entitlements and other RNA Project Entitlements and to pay RNA
Project Costs and other expenses relevant to the development project.
(b) Restricted cash – SMA Sinking Fund
The Sinking Fund is an account established to receive contributions from the Brisbane Showgrounds precinct property owners for the purpose of
future capital maintenance and improvements to shared public realm areas.
(c) Restricted cash – SMA Administration Fund
The Administration Fund is an account established to receive contributions from the Brisbane Showgrounds precinct property owners for the
purpose of administering and funding the operations of shared public realm areas.
(d) Restricted cash – King Street Carpark Account
The King Street Carpark Account is an account established to receive revenue from the operations of the King Street Carpark and pay costs
associated with administering the operations of the carpark. Lend Lease receive the net proceeds from this account.

NOTE 8: INTANGIBLE ASSETS
2021

2020

1,154,729

1,593,099

(1,087,657)

(1,365,074)

67,072

228,025

2021

2020

228,025

294,018

Additions

-

-

Disposals

(95,099)

-

Amortisation expense

(65,854)

(65,993)

CLOSING BALANCE

67,072

228,025

2021

2020

-

-

2021

2020

8,005,678

8,005,678

Software at cost
Accumulated amortisation and impairment

RECONCILIATION OF THE CARRYING AMOUNTS OF INTANGIBLE ASSETS AT THE
BEGINNING AND END OF THE CURRENT FINANCIAL YEAR:
Software at cost
Opening balance

NOTE 9: REDEVELOPMENT WORK IN PROGRESS
CURRENT ASSETS
Redevelopment Work In Progress

NON CURRENT ASSETS
Redevelopment Work In Progress

Redevelopment Work In Progress comprises capitalised expenses in relation to the redevelopment project including but not limited to legal
expenses, consultants fees and salaries and wages.
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NOTE 10: PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
CAPITAL WORK IN PROGRESS

2021

2020

At cost

-

2,000

LAND

2021

2020

96,880

96,880

2021

2020

At cost

118,601,915

118,625,198

Accumulated depreciation

(33,920,319)

(31,636,019)

84,681,596

86,989,179

2021

2020

Plant and equipment at cost

19,994,784

19,838,668

Accumulated depreciation

(14,956,711)

(14,636,846)

5,038,073

5,201,822

608,145

586,907

(400,115)

(366,004)

208,030

220,903

5,246,103

5,424,726

90,024,579

92,510,784

Work In Progress

Freehold land
At cost

BUILDINGS AND GROUND IMPROVEMENTS

PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Sub‑stations and electrical equipment at cost
Accumulated depreciation

Total plant and equipment

TOTAL PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
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RECONCILIATIONS

2021

2020

96,880

96,880

96,880

96,880

86,989,179

89,353,394

Additions

80,000

21,803

Transfers

-

-

Disposals

-

-

(2,387,583)

(2,386,018)

84,681,596

86,989,179

5,201,822

5,711,795

Additions

452,313

137,508

Transfers

2,000

-

Disposals

-

(18,393)

(618,062)

(629,088)

5,038,073

5,201,822

220,903

252,349

Additions

21,238

-

Depreciation expense

(34,111)

(31,446)

208,030

220,903

2000

-

Additions

-

2,000

Transfers

(2,000)

-

Disposals

-

-

CLOSING CARRYING AMOUNT

-

2,000

90,024,579

92,510,784

RECONCILIATION OF THE CARRYING AMOUNTS OF PROPERTY, PLANT AND
EQUIPMENT AT THE BEGINNING AND END OF THE CURRENT FINANCIAL YEAR:
Freehold land
Opening carrying amount

CLOSING CARRYING AMOUNT
Buildings
Opening carrying amount

Depreciation expense

CLOSING CARRYING AMOUNT
Plant and equipment
Opening carrying amount

Depreciation expense

CLOSING CARRYING AMOUNT
Sub‑stations and electrical equipment
Opening carrying amount

CLOSING CARRYING AMOUNT
Work‑in‑progress ‑ Construction and other related equipment
Opening carrying amount

TOTAL PROPERTY PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Rights and Obligations attached to Freehold Land

The Association is incorporated under the Royal National Agricultural and Industrial Association of Queensland Act 1971 (“the Act”) and operates
under the provisions of that Act. In accordance with the Act, the Association cannot sell its land without the approval of the Governor in Council.
In the event of an RNA insolvency, the balance site (approx 14 ha which has not been made available for private development) would be divested
automatically to the State Government.

NOTE 11: PAYABLES
CURRENT

2021

2020

983,149

1,368,111

1,154,317

825,915

2,137,466

2,194,026

Unsecured liabilities
Trade creditors
Sundry creditors and accruals
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NOTE 12: BORROWINGS
CURRENT

2021

2020

6,317,251

5,936,784

6,317,251

5,936,784

2021

2020

23,464,617

29,781,906

Cash Advance Facility ‑ Lend Lease

7,183,144

6,929,871

Large Animal Pavilion ‑ Lend Lease

30,000,000

30,000,000

60,647,761

66,711,777

Secured liabilities
Queensland Treasury Corporation loan

NON CURRENT
Secured liabilities
Queensland Treasury Corporation loan

Terms and conditions
Queensland Treasury Corporation Loans
The RNA has entered into a loan agreement with Queensland Treasury Corporation to assist in the financing of new facilities to be delivered as part
of the RNA redevelopment. The loan is secured by a first registered mortgage over the balance site (i.e. the part of the RNA site that is not within
the private development lots to be sold in accordance with the Project Development Agreement) and a first ranking charge over all of the assets of
the RNA. As at 31 December 2021 $59,000,000 (2020: $59,000,000) had been drawn down, interest charges of $31,290,236 (2020: $29,191,797)
calculated using the effective interest rate method have been capitalised and repayments of principal and interest totalling $60,508,841 (2020:
$52,473,618) have been made.
Repayments of the principal are scheduled over an 11 year period with the first repayments made in 2016. Interest was variable until 10 January
2014 when it converted to a fixed rate of 7.105%. Interest was paid monthly whilst the rate was variable and then quarterly once the loan was
transferred to the fixed facility.
The RNA also has a working capital facility with QTC to the value of $3,000,000 as at 31 December 2021 (2020: $3,000,000). This facility was not
drawn at balance date (2020: $nil drawn). This facility is set to expire on 31 December 2022.
Cash Advance facility ‑ Lend Lease
As part of the RNA Redevelopment Project, Lend Lease has agreed to provide a standby cash advance facility of up to $10,000,000 to meet funding
shortfalls, essentially for Levies and RNA Project Costs. The terms and conditions of this facility are set out in a Project Finance Agreement. This
facility will be repaid by future cash flows from the Redevelopment Project. The facility end date is the date of the final payment of all ULDA levies
under the Redevelopment project. Interest is charged on the same basis as the Queensland Treasury Corporation Loan. Interest is not required to be
repaid until there are sufficient funds in the RNADF to repay the interest. As at 31 December 2021 $5,479,756 (2020: $5,479,756) had been drawn
down. Accumulated Interest of $1,703,386 (2020: $1,450,113) has been capitalised to the loan to date.
Large Animal Pavilion ‑ Lend Lease
As part of the construction of the Large Animal Pavilion within the next stage of the RNA Redevelopment Project, Lend Lease has agreed to lend
RNA $30,000,000 to fund the facility. Repayments of this loan facility are to be disbursed from RNADF when the RNADF has the funds for this to
occur. As at 31 December 2021 $30,000,000 (2020: $30,000,000) had been drawn down.

NOTE 13: PROVISIONS
CURRENT
Employee benefits

TOTAL CURRENT PROVISION
NON CURRENT
Lend Lease Performance Payments
Employee benefits

TOTAL NON CURRENT PROVISION
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2021

2020

654,761

753,356

654,761

753,356

2021

2020

2,912,268

2,912,268

321,201

256,408

3,233,469

3,168,676

NOTE 14: OTHER LIABILITIES
CURRENT

2021

2020

Venue hire rent and bond

3,128,612

2,691,379

Other

1,279,668

562,107

4,408,280

3,253,486

2021

2020

35,910,999

29,012,999

35,910,999

29,012,999

Lend Lease initial payments (a)

4,611,436

4,611,436

Contribution to public realm development (b)

4,799,658

4,799,658

21,044,058

14,146,058

Ekka Gross Floor Area (GFA) Waiver (d)

1,157,400

1,157,400

Prepaid Land Entitlements – The Yards

4,298,447

4,298,447

35,910,999

29,012,999

NON CURRENT
Deferred revenue (i)

(i) Deferred revenue comprises:

Advance land payments (c)

(a) Lend Lease initial payments
Under the Project Development Agreement the Developer is liable to pay to the RNA the sum of $6,000,000 as a contribution towards the RNA’s
costs and expenses of entering into the Redevelopment Agreement. These payments are made at intervals during the first 48 months of the project.
(b) Contribution to public realm development
This amount relates to payments received from the developer for infrastructure works in relation to the Redevelopment Project, carried out by the
RNA.
(c) Advance land payments ‑ Lend Lease
Amounts owing to Lend Lease pursuant to the Master Plan Project Development Agreement (PDA) are secured by:
•

a mortgage over the land designated for redevelopment under the PDA

•

a conditional contract for RNA to transfer undeveloped portions of the redevelopment land. Settlement of this contract only occurs if the PDA
is terminated because of RNA default and Lend Lease elects to complete that contract instead of enforcing its mortgage security.

(d) Ekka Gross Floor Area (GFA) Waiver
Under the revised Project Development Agreement, the GFA restriction has been removed with Lend Lease paying RNA $1,500,000 as
compensation.

NOTE 15: RESERVES
2021

2020

Trust funds (a)

271,587

271,276

Sinking Fund (b)

629,534

446,214

901,121

717,490

(a) Trust funds
Trust funds consist of funds received from third parties to be held in trust and used for specific prize payments. The transfer in the year comprises
interest earned on the funds in the year calculated at the average term deposit rate less prizes paid from the fund in the year.

2021

2020

271,276

270,384

Interest received during the year

1,141

892

Prize payments during the year

(830)

-

271,587

271,276

Movements in reserve
Opening balance

CLOSING BALANCE
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b) Sinking fund
The RNA has entered into a Site Management Agreement which provides governance over the shared Brisbane Showgrounds precinct public realm.
Under this agreement, a Sinking Fund containing contributions from each property across the Brisbane Showgrounds Precinct has been established
to provide funds for future capital maintenance and improvements in public realm areas.

2021

2020

Opening balance

446,214

355,223

Contributions received during the year

183,320

124,248

Expenditure during the year

-

(33,257)

CLOSING BALANCE

629,534

446,214

1,927,772

1,604,131

Movements in reserve

NOTE 16: KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL COMPENSATION
Compensation received by key management personnel of the association
Councillors
At the Association’s Council meeting on 27 October 2000, it was resolved that ‘Country Councillors’ who travel a distance of more than 100km
radius from Brisbane be reimbursed their travel expenses based on Australian Taxation Office rates, as published, and be able to claim overnight
accommodation where applicable for attending official meeting of the Council and the Executive Committee. At 31 December 2021 there were 6
Councillors (2020: 6) eligible to claim travel expenses.
Councillors do not receive remuneration for their membership of Council.

NOTE 17: CASH FLOW INFORMATION
RECONCILIATION OF CASH FLOW FROM OPERATIONS WITH LOSS FOR THE YEAR

2021

2020

(9,807,995)

(1,058,189)

2021

2020

3,105,610

3,112,545

77,997

18,393

-

-

253,273

236,574

2,235,672

2,606,993

(137,233)

(151,002)

Bad Debts Expense

62,146

(22,978)

CHANGES IN ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

2021

2020

(Increase) / decrease in receivables

629,020

4,235,712

(Increase) / decrease in other assets

(138,766)

179,393

-

12,663

61,371

684,577

Increase / (decrease) in payables

(149,921)

(3,018,239)

Increase / (decrease) in unearned income

1,169,612

(363,817)

(33,802)

(117,581)

(2,673,016)

6,355,044

Profit / (Loss) for the year

ADJUSTMENTS AND NON‑CASH ITEMS
Depreciation & amortisation
Net (gain) / loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment and investments
Net (gain) / loss on sale of land
Interest Capitalised on loan
Interest expensed on loans included in financing activities
Adjustment to finance costs to recognise borrowings at amortised cost

(Increase) / decrease in land held for resale
(Increase) / decrease in inventories

Increase / (decrease) in provisions

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
NOTE 18: RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The name of each person holding the position of Councillor of the Association during the year is listed in the Councillors’ Report.
Other transactions between the Association and Councillors and their related entities are immaterial in nature and occur with normal customer/
supplier relationships on terms and conditions no more favourable than those which it is reasonable to expect would have been adopted if dealings
with non‑Councillor related entities at arm’s length in the same circumstances.
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NOTE 19: CAPITAL AND LEASING COMMITMENTS
(A) OPERATING LEASE PAYABLE COMMITMENTS

2021

2020

44,991

89,982

-

44,991

44,991

134,973

2021

2020

48,710

25,380

215,134

114,151

63,235

-

327,079

139,531

Non‑cancellable operating leases contracted for but not capitalised in the financial statements:
Payable
‑ not later than one year
‑ later than one year and not later than five years

The Association has a five year lease with CSG (beginning July 2017) for photocopiers:

(B) OPERATING LEASE RECEIVABLE COMMITMENTS
Receivable
‑ not later than one year
‑ later than one year and not later than five years
‑ later than five years

The Association has re‑negotiated a ten (10) year lease with Vodafone Network for ground rental on RNA land commencing 1 March 2016, as well
as re-negotiated a ten (10) year lease with Telstra Network commencing 28 February 2020. The Association also entered into month by month
leases in 2021 with Megaw Enterprises for the Riding School and Streetscape Advertising for signage.
During year, the Association entered a five (5) year concessionary lease with Economic Development Queensland for the exclusive use of a small
parcel of land attached to the Brisbane Showgrounds to further its objectives. The lease payments are $1 per annum. This lease is measured at cost
in accordance with the Association’s accounting policy as outlined in Note 1(l).

NOTE 20: CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
As at reporting date, there are no known contingent liabilities.

NOTE 21: ECONOMIC DEPENDENCY
The Association is economically dependent on Lend Lease (the developer of the RNA regeneration project) for the short to medium term funding of
the QTC loan. This dependency will continue until the net cashflows from the private development lots are sufficient to extinguish the loan.

NOTE 22: EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO REPORTING DATE
In March 2022, the Association received a grant of $6,506,620 from the Department of Agriculture, Water and Environment in relation to the
Supporting Agricultural Shows and Field Days grant program for those bodies that were forced to cancel their shows during 2021.
There has been no other matter or circumstance, which has arisen since 31 December 2021 that has significantly affected or may significantly affect:
(a) the operations, in financial years subsequent to 31 December 2021, of the RNA; or
(b) the results of those operations; or
(c) the state of affairs, in financial years subsequent to 31 December 2021, of the RNA

NOTE 23: COVID-19 IMPACT
The COVID-19 pandemic has had a significant impact on RNA operations and activities during the 2021 financial year. RNA Council, RNA Executive
Council, the Audit, Risk & Finance (ARF) Committee and management continued to focus on cost management initiatives, restrictions on all cash
outflows to critical activities only, and detailed financial analysis, reporting and COVID-19 recovery plans being reported on a regular basis to the
RNA Executive Council.
It is not practical to quantify the exact financial impact of COVID-19, but changes in the current year’s result that are directly or indirectly attributable
to COVID-19 include:
•

Reduced sales revenue;

•

Increased cleaning costs and protective equipment costs;

•

Reduced event based costs such as food and beverage costs and casual labour costs;

•

Reduced travel and accommodation costs;

•

Increased information technology costs;

•

Increased workplace health & safety costs; and
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•

Receipt of funds from the Federal Government by way of Jobkeeper Allowance.

The Association has taken the following steps to minimise regulatory and financial risk to the business:
•

Significantly reducing staff travel to minimise physical contact;

•

Enabling staff to work from home, where possible;

•

Education programs for staff to build awareness of how to reduce risk of infection;

•

Maintaining relationships with funding bodies to communicate any changes to timing or cost of deliverables;

•

Maintaining relationships with clients/customers to communicate any changes in the ability to hold events; and

•

Continuous updating of cash-flow projections as circumstances change.

The effect of COVID-19 is expected to continue into 2022. Although it is not possible to accurately determine the extent of the impact into 2022, it is
possible that the impact will be material to RNA as the effects and consequences are outside of its control and are far reaching across Australia and
the globe.

In the opinion of the Council the financial report as set out on pages 37 - 56:
1.

Presents fairly the financial position of The Royal National Agricultural and Industrial Association of Queensland as at 31 December 2021 and
performance for the year ended on that date in accordance with the Australian Accounting Standards ‑ Reduced Disclosure Requirements and
other mandatory professional reporting requirements.

1.

At the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that The Royal National Agricultural and Industrial Association of
Queensland will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due and payable.

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the Council and is signed for and on behalf of the Council by:

Council member:

Hon Justice D G Thomas – President

Council member:

Ms J Onley ‑ Honorary Treasurer

Dated this 25th day of March 2022
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
TO THE MEMBERS OF THE
ROYAL NATIONAL AGRICULTURAL AND
INDUSTRIAL ASSOCIATION OF QUEENSLAND
Report on the Audit of the Financial Report
Opinion
We have audited the financial report of The Royal National Agricultural and Industrial Association of Queensland
(“the Association”), which comprises the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2021, the statement
of comprehensive income, statement of members’ funds and statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information, and the
Councillors’ declaration.
In our opinion the financial report of the Association is in accordance with the Royal National Agricultural and
Industrial Association of Queensland Act 1971 (as amended) including:
(i)
(ii)

giving a true and fair view of the Association’s financial position as at 31 December 2021 and of its
financial performance for the year; and
complying with Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure Requirements.

Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section of
our report. We are independent of the Association in accordance with the ethical requirements of the Australian
Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the Code)
that are relevant to our audit of the financial report in Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.
Other Matter – Going Concern
We draw attention to Note 1(r) which details the basis for preparing the financial report on a going concern
basis. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.
Other Information
The Councillors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Association’s Councillors’ Report for the year ended 31 December 2021, but does not include
the financial report and our auditor's report thereon.
Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and accordingly we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other in formation and, in
doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial report or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.
If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
Responsibilities of the Councillors for the Financial Report
The Councillors of the Association are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true
and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure Requirements and the
Royal National Agricultural and Industrial Association of Queensland Act 1971 (as amended) and for such
internal control as the Councillors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report that
gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
TO THE MEMBERS OF THE
ROYAL NATIONAL AGRICULTURAL AND
INDUSTRIAL ASSOCIATION OF QUEENSLAND (continued)
Responsibilities of the Councillors for the Financial Report (cont’d)
In preparing the financial report, the Councillors are responsible for assessing the ability of the Association to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the Councillors either intend to liquidate the Association or to cease
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report.
As part of an audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards, we exercise professional judgement and
maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:
Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Association's internal control.
Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the Councillors.
Conclude on the appropriateness of the Councillors' use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt on the Association’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related
disclosures in the financial report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Association to cease to continue as a going concern.
Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the disclosures,
and whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation
We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

Bentleys Brisbane (Audit) Pty Ltd
Chartered Accountants

Stewart Douglas
Director
Brisbane
25 March 2022
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HISTORICAL TIMELINE
1875

THE NATIONAL AGRICULTURAL
AND INDUSTRIAL ASSOCIATION
OF QUEENSLAND
¢

¢

The ‘National Agricultural and Industrial
Association of Queensland’ was formed
by a group of colonists
The first Council included the
Headmaster of Brisbane Grammar,
the General Manager of the
Queensland National Bank and the
Editor of the Brisbane Courier and the
Queenslander*

Competitors were usually charged two
shillings and sixpence per entry*

¢

There were competitions for the best
manure and the fastest walking farm
horse*

¢

The largest prize up for grabs was 25
guineas*

¢

The show closed at midnight on Monday
28 August, following a controversial
decision to open on the Sunday*

¢

1876

THE FIRST EXHIBITION
¢

¢

The Intercolonial Exhibition of 1876 was
held at Bowen Park, with an estimated
15,000 - 17,000 people attending out
of Brisbane’s population at the time of
just 20,600
5,000 people charged the turnstiles
- chaos ensued until the mounted
troopers were called to drive back the
crowd

¢

Visitors to the first show were treated to
more than 1,000 exhibits

¢

The show received 1,700 competition
entries in more than 600 classes

¢

Entry tickets were large and square for
major patrons, circular for subscribers,
blue for judges and red for stewards*

¢

Staff included a nightwatchman, 40
stewards and more than 30 judges*

¢

Entry to the grounds in the morning
was a half-crown, or visitors could wait
until after the official opening when the

1882

cost of a ticket fell to one shilling
¢

¢

1877

Introduction of the first ride in Sideshow
Alley - a merry-go-round*

1888

¢

1891

¢

The Exhibition and Concert Hall (now
known as The Old Museum) was built
on the corner of Bowen Bridge Road
and Gregory Terrace. It was built to
replace the RNA’s first exhibition building
(Main Pavilion) which was destroyed
by fire three years earlier. It contains
1.3 million bricks and was completed
in 23 weeks. 300 men were constantly
at work during its construction. The
building was equipped with a huge pipe
organ by Wallis and Co of London

¢

The first district exhibits contest was
held – nine regions competed for a prize
pool of £175*

1878

The Showgrounds became the centre
of the city’s social activities – musical
and drama groups, football, cricket,
lacrosse, athletics and cycling all had
headquarters on grounds

1879

INTRODUCTION OF
QUEENSLAND’S NEWEST
TECHNOLOGIES
¢

Ekka patrons were amazed by
telephones, microphones, electric lights
and even an electric thief detector

Main Pavilion (corner of Bowen Bridge
Road and Gregory Terrace) was
destroyed by fire on June 13, 1888

EXHIBITION BUILDING AND
CONCERT HALL CONSTRUCTED

THE CENTRE OF SOCIAL ACTIVITIES
¢

The first railway station opened at the
Showgrounds – as an extension of the
Sandgate line

MAIN PAVILION DESTROYED

Only three breeds of cattle were
displayed at the first show - Durham,
Hereford and Devon*

FIRST EKKA RIDE
¢

THE FIRST RAILWAY STATION

1894

FIRST FIREWORKS
¢

The first fireworks display occurred in
the Main Arena, beginning another show
tradition*
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1906

JOHN MACDONALD STAND BUILT

¢

1912

AMERICAN AVIATOR
¢

American aviator Arthur Burr Stone used
the Main Arena to take off and land a
Metz Bleriot Monoplane, for the first ever
flight over Brisbane

1917

TOOWOOMBA’S AUSTRAL HALL
¢

Toowoomba’s Austral Hall was bought
for £1,500 and re-erected at the
Showgrounds, making it the largest
building of its type in the state

1919

EKKA CANCELLED DUE TO INFLUENZA EPIDEMIC

THE RNA
¢

1921

The prefix ‘Royal’ was added to the
association’s name, after it was granted
under warrant from His Majesty King
George V

1923

ERNEST BAYNES STAND BUILT

¢

The National Speedway opened at the
RNA Showgrounds

¢

The Queensland Country Women’s
Association made its first appearance at
the Ekka

¢

The first night time ring program was
held at Ekka, following the introduction
of electric lighting*

1928

SIR DONALD BRADMAN TEST
DEBUT
¢

¢

The Main Arena played host to the test
debut of the world’s greatest batsman
Sir Donald Bradman. Bradman was
playing in the first Australia versus
England International Test in Queensland
and scored a total of 19 runs
The first international rugby league game
was held on the Main Arena

1930s
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SIDESHOW ALLEY AND
WOODCHOP
¢

1937
1942

¢

2003

¢

The Ekka was cancelled, as the grounds
were used as a staging depot during
World War II

1950

EKKA FOOD TRADITIONS
¢

The now symbolic Ekka fairy floss,
butter board sandwiches, Strawberry
Sundaes and dagwood dogs were
introduced*

1954

ANIMAL NURSERY AT THE EKKA
INTRODUCED

1966

HUMAN CANNONBALL
APPEARED AT THE EKKA FOR
THE FIRST TIME*

1971

INTERNATIONAL SPRINGBOK
TOUR
¢

The International Springbok Tour was
held at the RNA Showgrounds, with a
two metre chain wire fence erected to
separate the players from the spectators

1989

LIVID MUSIC FESTIVAL
¢

The renowned Livid Music Festival
was held at the RNA Showgrounds
for the first time, which later featured
performances by superstar group Oasis
and Green Day in 2000 and British
music icons The Cure in 2002

1996

COMMERCE AND EXHIBITION
BUILDINGS CONSTRUCTED

RNA Council embarked on its vision to
keep the Ekka at the RNA Showgrounds
and cement the long-term financial viability
of the RNA, through redeveloping the
Showgrounds and its facilities

2005

RNA SHOWGROUNDS MASTER
PLAN LAUNCHED

2009

REDEVELOPMENT PARTNER
¢

QUEEN ELIZABETH II AND PRINCE
PHILLIP VISITED THE EKKA

1964

The Inner City Bypass was constructed,
and Sideshow Alley and the woodchop
arena were redeveloped

REDEVELOPMENT VISION BEGAN

WORLD WAR II

1926

NATIONAL SPEEDWAY

New Ekka competitions provided
fresh entertainment for visitors during
the depths of the Great Depression,
including goat races which attracted
100 competitors*

INDUSTRIAL PAVILION OPENED

1920

EDWARD, PRINCE OF WALES
VISITS THE EKKA

2000

GREAT DEPRESSION

Lendlease was selected as the RNA’s
development partner for the $2.9 billion
RNA Showgrounds Regeneration
Project

2010

MASTER PLAN APPROVAL
¢

The RNA Showgrounds Master Plan
was approved by the Urban Land
Development Authority, paving way for
construction to start

¢

One million people attended events at
the RNA Showgrounds in a calendar
year

2011

CONSTRUCTION STARTED
¢

Construction commenced on the
Industrial Pavilion, as part of the RNA
Showgrounds Regeneration Project

¢

The first release of residential
apartments at The Green went on
sale and work began on the related
infrastructure

¢

British heavy metal band Iron Maiden
and world renowned guitarist Slash
performed at Soundwave music festival,
which attracted a crowd of 45,000

¢

Grammy Award-winners Wolfmother
closed the Ekka’s concert series in front
of a capacity crowd

2012

ROYAL ICC’S FIRST VISITORS
¢

The ground floor of the brand new
Royal International Convention Centre
(Royal ICC) housed the Ekka’s Canine
Competition, Agricultural Hall and
horticulture exhibits

¢
¢

¢

¢

¢

¢

¢

and construction commencing on King
Street

Construction began on the new
7,000m2, $7.7 million Plaza
The RNA was inducted into the
Queensland Business Leaders Hall of
Fame for its contribution to the state’s
economic and social history
In an Australian first, Ekka fans were
able to customise their own fireworks
on the show’s free interactive fireworks
iPhone app
New Ekka ticket bundles were
introduced and resulted in a 400 per
cent increase in pre-sales
2012 Australian of the Year and
Academy Award-winning actor and
producer Geoffrey Rush attended the
opening day of the Ekka
In true Queensland style, a cricket
match involving cricketing greats Adam
Gilchrist, Glenn McGrath, Ian Healy,
Andy Bichel and Jimmy Maher took
place on the Main Arena on the final day
of the Ekka
45,000 revellers made their way to
Soundwave to enjoy performances by
System of a Down, Marilyn Manson,
Slipknot and Limp Bizkit

2013

BRISBANE SHOWGROUNDS
LAUNCHED

¢

¢

The Royal ICC hosted Her Royal
Highness, The Princess Royal
(Princess Anne) and 250 delegates at
the Royal Agricultural Society of the
Commonwealth (RASC) conference in
October

¢

¢

¢

Work started on the 208 room, four and
a half star Rydges Hotel on the corner
of Gregory Terrace and King Street, with
construction completed in December
In June, Kingsgate commercial sector
opened for business on the corner
of King Street and St Pauls Terrace,
becoming the Queensland head office
for Lendlease

2016

KING STREET COMES TO LIFE
¢

The 208 room, four and a half star
Rydges Hotel, along with the Paddock
Bar and Six Acres restaurant, opened
on King Street in February. The street,
which connects St Pauls Terrace and
Gregory Terrace, also opened to traffic
the same month.

¢

Construction began on K1, the first of
the commercial towers at Kingsgate
commercial precinct, and on The Green
residential apartments

¢

From August to November, King Street
welcomed restaurants The George Bar
and Bistro, Fat Dumpling, Sushi & Nori,
Hello Chicken and Il Verde

¢

More than 400,000 guests attended the
Ekka

¢

¢

The Royal Queensland Show took
home the prestigious Best in Show title,
along with 13 other awards, at the 2013
International Association of Fairs and
Expositions Awards (IAFE Awards)

After 119 years, The Old Museum came
home to Ekka, forming a brand new
precinct home to the Flower and Garden
Exhibition and Quilts Across Queensland

¢

50,000 music lovers descended on the
Brisbane Showgrounds for Soundwave

2017

CELEBRATING EKKA’S 140TH
¢

¢

Stage two of the Brisbane Showgrounds
Regeneration Project launched in
September, including the announcement
of the four and a half star Rydges Hotel

The Ekka celebrated a remarkable
milestone - its 140th anniversary - with
the RNA marking the special occasion
by introducing a new half price ticket for
entry from 6pm and not one, but two
fireworks displays

¢

King Street cemented its reputation as a
foodie hot spot, with eight new retailers
(five of those restaurants) opening
their doors, including two-hat French
restaurant Montrachet

¢

Construction commenced on 25 King,
the world’s largest engineered timber
office building, in June

¢

Construction commenced on The
Pavilion - an animal pavilion, car park
and event space - in August

2014

BRISBANE SHOWGROUNDS
REGENERATION PROJECT STAGE
TWO UNDERWAY

King Street emerged as one of
Brisbane’s most popular dining and
retail precincts, with 12 new retailers
opening throughout the year including
Australia’s newest luxury food shopping
concept Mercado

¢

Construction commenced on Alexandria
Park in August. Once complete in mid2019, it’ll offer more than two acres of
additional green space for the public to
enjoy all year round and during Ekka

In September, the RNA welcomed
the very first residents to the Brisbane
Showgrounds in The Green apartments

Completion of the Plaza and PorteCochere

The Caravan and Camping Show
attracted 71,500 people to the Brisbane
Showgrounds

¢

2015

¢

¢

The RNA invested in its charter of
championing and celebrating agriculture,
building two new event facilities - The
Pavilion and Marquee 2 - which were
both used at the Ekka for the very
first time. The Pavilion, completed in
October, was partially used at the show
to house beef and dairy cattle, dairy
goats and poultry. Meanwhile Marquee 2
was completed in February and became
the new Woodchop Arena, expanding
the competition area by 50 per cent

HOTEL CONSTRUCTION

The Royal ICC was fully completed and
held its first events in March 2013

More than 54,521 Ekka Facebook
friends – a growth of 75 per cent on
2012

¢

Grammy Award-winner Lorde performed
at Laneway festival to a record crowd

¢

¢

2018

INVESTING IN AGRICULTURE

2019

NEW PARK FOR POOCHES AND
THE PUBLIC
¢

Alexandria Park was completed in
April, offering two acres of additional
green and event space, along with a
refurbished heritage-listed undercover
events pavilion known as Building 8.
The park became the new home of the
Ekka’s Canine Competition presented
by Black Hawk in August. Outside of
the show, the park is used as an events
space and can be enjoyed by the public

¢

Nine major music festivals which
attracted 150,000 people were staged
at the Brisbane Showgrounds including
Listen Out and RNB Fridays Live

¢

The RQFWS held its Beer Awards for
the first time in five years, with the RNA
revitalising the competition to once
again showcase Australia’s best brewers
and their products. It also forms part of
the RNA’s commitment to reward and
recognise the nation’s best of the best

2020

EKKA CANCELLED FOR ONLY THE
THIRD TIME IN HISTORY DUE TO
GLOBAL COVID-19 PANDEMIC

2021

EKKA CANCELLED FOR ONLY THE
FOURTH TIME IN HISTORY DUE
TO GLOBAL COVID-19 PANDEMIC
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